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Participants’ rights
Awards will not confer any shareholder rights until the awards have vested and participants have received their
shares.

Participants will be entitled to receive a payment (in cash and/or shares) on or shortly following the vesting of their
awards, of an amount equivalent to the dividends that would have been paid on the vested shares between the time
when the awards were granted and the time when they vest.

Variation of capital
In the event of any variation of the company’s share capital or in the event of a demerger, payment of a special
dividend or similar event which materially affects the market price of the shares, the committee may make such
adjustments as it considers appropriate to the number of shares subject to an award and/or to the exercise price
payable (if any).

Rights attaching to shares
Any shares allotted when an award vests (or for an award structured as an option, when it is exercised) will rank
equally with all other shares then in issue (except for rights arising by reference to a record date prior to their
allotment).

Alterations
The committee may, at any time, amend the provisions of the Plan in any respect, provided that the prior approval of
shareholders is obtained for any amendment that is to the advantage of participants in respect of the rules
governing eligibility, limits on participation, the overall limits on the issue of shares (or the transfer of shares held in
treasury), the basis for determining a participant's entitlement to and the terms of, the shares to be acquired and
the adjustment of awards.

The requirement to obtain the prior approval of shareholders will not, however, apply to any minor alteration made to
benefit the administration of the Plan, to take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable
tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment for participants or for any company in the group.
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F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

2006 2005

Revenue £527.8m £474.0m

Benchmark operating profit* £63.9m £59.1m

Profit before tax** £52.1m £45.5m

Benchmark earnings per share* 47.04p 39.05p

Dividends per share 18.00p 16.40p

* Benchmark measures are stated before amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and restructuring costs and excluding in 2006, £2.9m profit
on land held for resale

** Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles and restructuring costs
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I am pleased to report that your company has
enjoyed another record year, underpinned by a
particularly strong performance in the education
division. Overall sales for the financial year ended
31 March 2006 were 11% higher at £528m
(2005: £474m). Profit before tax, and before
amortisation of acquisition intangibles and
restructuring costs, increased by 14% to
£52.1m from £45.5m. These results include a
profit of £2.9m (2005: £nil) on the sale of land
held for resale; this is deducted to arrive at
Benchmark* Profit before Tax for the year of
£49.2m (2005: £45.5m), an increase of 8%.
Statutory profit before tax was £35.1m
(2005: £41.5m) primarily reflecting the impact of
the restructuring charges. Benchmark* earnings
per share improved by 20% to 47.04p, having
benefited from a lower tax charge this year. Basic
earnings per share were 35.58p (2005: 35.41p).
The restructuring of the Educational Supplies division is
now substantially complete. The principal elements of the
restructuring comprised the consolidation of warehousing,
administrative offices and computer systems; the
rationalisation of the stock ranges, and the separation of
our healthcare operations into a standalone business.
During the restructuring process a number of additional
opportunities were identified, increasing our expectation
of the final run rate of benefits to a minimum of £10m
annually, £2m ahead of expectations. It has been
necessary to increase our investment in the project to
£16.1m in order to achieve this; however the acceleration
and improvement of benefits will mean that this extra
cost should be recovered by the end of the current
financial year.

Net finance costs increased by 8% to £14.7m (2005:
£13.6m). Interest charges were more than four times
covered by Benchmark* operating profit.

Dividends
The directors are recommending an increase of 10% in the
final dividend to 14.2p per share (2005: 12.9p) to be paid
on 6 July 2006 to shareholders on the register at 9 June
2006. This will make the total dividend for the year 18.0p
per share (2005: 16.4p) an increase of 10%.

Home Shopping
In common with retailers generally our Home Shopping
division had a difficult year with sales reduced by 4.6%
to £228.0m (2005: £239.1m) and operating profit
also down to £31.9m (2005: £40.2m). As reported in
December, our recruitment and marketing campaign for
our main Christmas trading season coincided with one of
the weakest consumer environments for many years.
Recruitment from this campaign was 27% down on the
previous year. The lower sales to new customers were not
the only factor impacting on operating profit. Lower
response rates meant that marketing expenditure
increased by £3.8m and lower product sales resulted in
less financial services income. Additionally the company
informed the market in December that it was taking a
prudent approach to bad debt and as a result the charge
increased by £2.4m.

Sales to established customers were 3.5% ahead of the
previous year even after taking into account a 5% price
deflation on carry forward lines. Repeat orders from both
established and new customers were satisfactory,
confirming the strength of the offer. Retention rates and
average order value were approximately the same as the
prior year at over 64% and £39 respectively. Internet
sales grew by 31% and now account for 23% of all orders.

Although we started this calendar year with a customer
base some 9% less than last year, recruitment tests
conducted in October produced response rates 10% ahead
of those achieved in 2004. This recruitment method was
retested in Spring, again with a positive result, giving
confidence that we can again return to growth in our base.

We also believe we can increase sales to our existing
customers. This belief is supported by the fact that since
January we have succeeded in increasing product sales to
them by 8%. 

Last year our Summer Living catalogue was very well
received and we also saw a dramatic 50% increase in
sales from our Christmas Living catalogue, which was
mailed later in the season. Customers prefer merchandise
offerings that are seasonally appropriate. In view of this,
both of these catalogues will be increased in size this
year. Importantly Christmas Living, which was offered to
less than half of our established base last year, offers
scope for a significant increase in distribution. After this
year’s experience the size and distribution of this
catalogue will provide the necessary safety net should the
early season again prove difficult. It is becoming
increasingly obvious that more niche catalogues and
frequent mailing provide additional sales opportunities, and
support the main catalogue. We will introduce more
editions of these niche catalogues this year to take
advantage of this trend. 

We are encouraged by the growth of Internet sales and
have now established a substantial database of
customers who have positively opted to receive e-mail. We
anticipate continued growth from this route to market.

We have a very successful home shopping credit business.
There is a much wider cash with order audience that we
do not currently reach. Whilst it is possible to build this
business organically we believe that small targeted
acquisitions are a more efficient way of gaining critical
mass. We have the infrastructure, expertise and capacity
to achieve cost savings and leverage profitability from any
such acquired business.

Educational Supplies
The Educational Supplies division has had an excellent year.
Divisional sales rose by 40% to £228.3m (2005:
£163.5m) both through the two acquisitions we made in
the third quarter of last year, and through continued
organic growth. Benchmark* operating profit was up 78%
to £27.6m (2005: £15.5m).

The major focus of the year was the implementation of the
divisional reorganisation plan. This has been a massive
project and has taken a tremendous amount of time and
effort from the Education team. 

The key aim of the restructuring project was to streamline
our operations, improving service to customers whilst
reducing operating costs and benefiting margins. The
implementation was such that it has been possible to
complete a number of key activities ahead of original

2

Chairman’s Statement



schedule including consolidation of the warehousing and
administrative operations and of computer systems. As a
result, some £6m of benefits have been realised from the
project during the financial year. 

The reorganisation is now virtually complete allowing the
division to concentrate on further growth.

In spite of having to cope with the reorganisation the
division has made strong progress:

The new catalogues for our national, curricular based,
education brands, consisting of the improved and
rationalised product ranges, have been well received since
these were launched in January. These long established
market leading brands are the key to the unique nature of
Findel’s offering in the education marketplace.

The new common catalogue for our regional commodity
based brands was launched on schedule at the beginning
of April.

Successful promotional activity from our sports product
ranges was undertaken during the year with two major
national retailers. Both have chosen to repeat the activity
in our current financial year.

The March budget confirmed the continuing spending
priority placed by the Government on Education, with an
announced long term aim of bringing capital provision for
public sector pupils up to the level of that in the private
sector. Combining this general objective with the
previously announced introduction of multi-year
guaranteed budgets from April 2006, supports our belief
that schools will now have increasing confidence to invest
in the resources they need. 

We also expect to benefit directly from the increased
emphasis and investment in science education, which will
now form part of the Government’s School Accountability
Framework. Our Philip Harris brand is the leading supplier
of science equipment to secondary schools.

The transactional websites operated by our key brands
now integrate directly with the administrative software in
use in the majority of UK schools. We are consulting with
the Government’s newly created Centre for Procurement
Performance to ensure that our e-commerce strategy
remains aligned with developing Government thinking in
this area. 

An important part of the restructuring in the Education
division was to separate NRS Healthcare into a stand
alone business. Today NRS is a substantial operation in its
own right occupying the leading position in a growing
market with its own premises, systems and
infrastructure, and most importantly a dedicated and
experienced management team. Huntleigh has been
successfully integrated and we anticipate the financial
benefits to lead to a significant growth in operating profit
in the current year. 

Having successfully completed field trials, we are now
actively marketing our Telecare wristcare patient monitoring
products across the UK. To these, we have added a
comprehensive range of Telecare products from other
suppliers including a wide range of sensors and detectors,
pill dispensers, and an interactive care companion.

Findel Services
Divisional sales were level with the same period last year
at £71.5m (2005: £71.4m). Benchmark* operating profit
at £2.5m (2005: £2.6m) was in line with expectations. 

Board Changes
I am delighted to welcome Patrick Jolly to the executive
board as chief executive. Patrick has been a non-executive
director for the past five years where his contribution has
been considerable. Philip Maudsley, who has been group
managing director for the last two years has been
appointed chief operating officer bringing to that role his
strong operational capability and in-depth knowledge of
the group. Over the last 12 months we have been giving
urgent consideration to the most effective composition of
the top management team, and in particular to the
recruitment of a chief executive. We have looked externally
as well as internally and, with the appointment of Patrick
I believe we have now achieved the necessary blend of
complementary skills to lead the group forward for the
coming years. 

One of Patrick Jolly’s first tasks is to conduct a thorough
assessment of the group and its future development. This
assessment will cover all the group’s activities, with the
object of maximising shareholder value. 

Tony Johnson, our deputy chairman will become a
non-executive director at the annual general meeting.
Tony has made an invaluable contribution to the growth
of the group and I should like to thank him for all of the
assistance he has provided over the last 18 years. I am
pleased to report that he will also remain as a consultant
enabling the group to continue to benefit from his
experience and wise counsel.

The board is actively seeking to appoint an additional
independent non-executive director. 

Employees
I thank all the group’s employees for their hard work and
commitment. On behalf of the board I would like to express
our appreciation of the continued loyalty and dedication
shown by all group employees. 

Prospects
The inherent strength of the Home Shopping business
together with experience gained and opportunities
identified provides confidence for its future development. 

We are already seeing significant benefits from the
restructuring programme in Educational Supplies, which
has provided the division with strong long term growth
potential.

I remain confident that the group will make further
progress in the current year.

Burley House
Bradford Road

Burley–in–Wharfedale
Keith Chapman West Yorkshire
Chairman LS29 7DZ

* Benchmark measures are stated excluding amortisation of
acquisition intangibles £0.9m (2005: £0.7m), restructuring
costs £16.1m (2005: £3.3m), both in the educational
supplies division, and profit on sale of land held for resale
£2.9m (2005: £nil) in the Services division.
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D i v i s i o n a l  A c t i v i t i e s

The division provides a personal shopping service to around 1.5 million customers and is the
fourth largest direct mail order company in the UK. Through five major catalogues and a
statement mailing programme it offers a wide range of merchandise, including exclusive items
sourced through the group’s overseas offices, and recognised branded products at prices
competitive to the high street. Customers may choose to pay within 28 days, or take advantage
of a monthly credit programme. The range of products is diverse covering leisurewear, electrical,
household, textile, bedding, furniture, nursery products, gifts and greeting cards. Many of these
can be personalised in the division’s in house facilities which are unmatched in UK retail. All large
products are handled at a 500,000 square foot distribution centre in Manchester, whilst an
automated collation warehouse at Accrington is capable of handling over half a million items per
day. Around one quarter of the division’s sales are transacted over the internet, a proportion
growing annually.

Group Web Sites
www.findel.co.uk

Home Shopping

Home Shopping Division
www.24studio.co.uk
www.24ace.co.uk
www.webbivory.co.uk
www.homefarmhampers.co.uk

Educational Supplies Division
www.hope-education.co.uk
www.nesarnold.co.uk
www.galt-educational.co.uk
www.galt.co.uk
www.sbs-educational.co.uk
www.atozsupplies.co.uk
www.edco.co.uk
www.wnwpo.co.uk
www.philipharris.co.uk
www.unilab.co.uk
www.daviessports.co.uk
www.percussionplus.co.uk
www.ldalearning.com
www.nrs-uk.co.uk
www.glsed.co.uk
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D i v i s i o n a l  A c t i v i t i e s

The division is the largest independent supplier of resources to schools and other educational
establishments in the UK. Its international unit exports to 150 countries worldwide. Through its
leading brands, which operate both via printed catalogue and through a variety of e-procurement
solutions, it offers an extensive product range supporting all curriculum subjects as well as
supplying furniture and audio visual equipment and commodity products such as stationery and
janitorial materials. In addition to its large mainstream brands offering a “one stop shop”, the
division has brands specialising in individual subject areas such as science, sports, musical
instruments and special needs. Continuing investment in product development has enabled the
division to offer many exclusive products within its product ranges. In addition to direct sales to
schools, the division has extensive experience of working with partner organisations in supplying
resources for education. The division’s NRS brand operates in the healthcare sector and is the
market leader in the provision of outsourced Integrated Community Equipment Services to NHS
trusts and local authorities. The contracts it operates include the largest yet awarded to the private
sector. In addition, the division is active in the growing field of Telecare, offering both its own
monitoring solution and a range of Telecare products from third parties, and supplies a large range
of rehabilitation and care equipment to the public and private sectors via a 350 page catalogue.

Educational Supplies

This division leverages the assets and skill sets of the group’s other two divisions. It is
responsible for the group’s buying offices in Hong Kong, India and Shanghai, and through them
procures a wide range of merchandise for group companies and a substantial number of third
party customers. The division also manages our joint venture and partnership activities with
European Home Retail, The Webb Group, and Confetti.co.uk. 

Findel Services
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IFRS
This is the first occasion on which the group reports its full year results under IFRS. A transition document
providing a full reconciliation of comparative information was issued to shareholders on 1 December 2005 and
is available on the group’s website www.findel.co.uk. 

Benchmark measures
In order to ensure consistency of reporting the group has, in common with other companies in its sector,
identified measures of benchmark profit from operations, profit before tax and earnings per share which it
believes will aid in understanding its business. Benchmark measures are stated before amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and before exceptional items such as restructuring costs, gains or losses on disposal
or closure of businesses, and goodwill impairment charges. In the current year, Benchmark measures also
exclude a one-off profit on the sale of land which had been held as an investment for resale.

Revenue
Group revenues grew by 11% to £527.8m (2005: £474.0m). 

Profit
Benchmark* profit before tax increased by 8% to £49.2m. In addition, a £2.9m profit was realised on sale of
land which had been held for resale. Profit before tax decreased to £35.1m from £41.5m primarily reflecting
the increased restructuring costs of £16.1m (2005: £3.3m) incurred during the year. Return on sales on a
Benchmark basis decreased slightly to 9.3% from 9.6% reflecting the improved performance of the Educational
Supplies division offset by the impact of the difficult retail environment encountered by the Home Shopping
division during its main customer recruitment period in September 2005. The charge for amortisation of
acquisition intangibles increased from £0.7m to £0.9m reflecting the impact of a full year charge in relation
to prior year acquisitions. 

Divisional performance
Operating margins for both the Home Shopping and Educational Supplies divisions are discussed in detail within
the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 and 3, as are average order values and retention rates within the Home
Shopping division. 

Within Educational Supplies, average order values improved from £191 in 2005 to £211 in 2006 reflecting the
impact of a successful strategic initiative to increase order values, contributing significantly to the overall
performance of the division during the year under review. Within NRS, on-time collections and deliveries were over
92%, a level comparable with the previous year. Maintaining these service levels is imperative for the continued
growth and development of the NRS business.

Taxation
The group’s effective rate of tax, calculated on a Benchmark basis, has decreased from 28.0% to 25.7%.
This continues to be lower than the UK standard rate, as a result of lower rates of company taxation in
relation to the group’s Hong Kong subsidiary, the utilisation of tax losses brought forward from prior periods
and an increased contribution from the group’s associates. The prospective Benchmark rate of tax is expected
to be approximately 27%.

Shareholder return and dividends
Basic earnings per share were 35.58p in the year to 31 March 2006 compared to 35.41p last year.
Benchmark* earnings per share were 47.04p compared to 39.05p last year. The board has proposed a final
dividend of 14.2p per share, a rise of 1.3p or 10% on last year. The dividend for the year as a whole of 18.0p,
a rise of 10% on last year, is covered 2.6 times from benchmark earnings. 

Net assets
Net assets amount to £122.2m, a rise of £16.1m in the year. This is equivalent to 144p per share compared
with 125p last year.

Share price and total shareholder return
The share price of Findel ranged from a low of 401p to a high of 559p during the financial year. On 31 March
2006 the mid market price was 557.5p, giving a market capitalisation of £473m at that date.

Total shareholder return (the increase in the value of a share including reinvested dividends) has been 644% in
the nine years since the demerger of the group in 1996. This compares favourably with the total shareholder
return for the average for the FTSE 350 General Retailers which was 53% over the same period.
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Cash flow
The group’s free cash flow before acquisitions and financing was an outflow of £18.3m, compared with an
outflow of £4.7m in 2005. This includes cash costs of £9.7m relating to the restructuring of the Educational
Supplies division undertaken during the year, along with contributions of £2.3m over and above the normal
funding costs of the group’s pension schemes. Taxation payments reduced to £7.9m from £11.8m, principally
due to the utilisation of losses and the resolution of prior year issues. Acquisitions totalling £33.9m made in
the third quarter of last year increased interest costs by £1.3m in the year. Capital expenditure in 2006 was
£16.4m, £7.4m higher than last year and equivalent to 237% of the depreciation charge in 2006, again
reflecting the impact of the restructuring undertaken during the year within the Educational Supplies division
and also increased investment in IT within the Home Shopping division. It is anticipated that the level of capital
expenditure in 2007 will be less than that in 2006.

Liquidity and funding
The maturity and currency profile of the group’s borrowings are shown in Note 24 to the financial statements.
At 31 March 2006, 92% of the group’s borrowings were drawn under long-term facilities, the earliest of
which expires in March 2009, and there were undrawn committed facilities of £84.2m. 

During the year, the group successfully renewed its securitisation facility. The gross amount of the
facility was increased by £5m to £105m, the actual amount available being dependent on certain debtor
balances within the group’s Home Shopping division. At 31 March 2006 the amount drawn under this
facility was £84.2m. 

Treasury and risk management
The group’s treasury function seeks to reduce or eliminate exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and
other financial risks, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash
assets safely and profitably. It does not operate as a profit centre and transacts only in relation to underlying
business requirements. It operates policies and procedures which are periodically reviewed by the board and is
subject to regular audit control reviews.

Interest rate risk management
The group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use
of “cap and floor” derivative arrangements. The group also mixes the duration of its borrowings to smooth the
impact of interest rate fluctuations.

At £15.2m, net interest costs were £2.5m higher than last year. This principally reflects increased interest
costs arising from the £33.9m expenditure on acquisitions in the prior year. The net interest charge was
covered 4.2 times by Benchmark* operating profit.

Currency risk management
Approximately 30% of products sold through the group’s Home Shopping division, and a growing proportion of
those sold through the Educational Supplies division, are procured from the Far East, principally through the
group’s Far East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is principally the US Dollar, with a
proportion being in Hong Kong Dollars. The group has a policy of hedging these foreign currency denominated
transactions by entering into forward exchange purchase contracts.

Credit risk
The group’s exposure to credit risk is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions with strong
credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation. 

Principal risks and uncertainties
There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could impact the performance of the group. The group has a
comprehensive system of risk management installed within all parts of its business to mitigate these risks as far
as is possible, as described in detail in the Corporate Governance report on pages 16 and 17.

Home Shopping
The Home Shopping division is significantly impacted by movements in interest rates and the state of the wider
consumer credit market. Any adverse movement in interest rates could have a consequent adverse impact on
the performance of the Home Shopping division. The group undertakes appropriate interest rate hedging to
mitigate this risk. 
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The Home Shopping industry is witnessing increased penetration of the market by internet based businesses
challenging the historical dominance of catalogue based Home Shopping businesses. The Home Shopping division
has responded to this challenge and is fully e-enabled, leaving it well placed to respond. During the year under
review, internet sales grew by 31% and now account for 23% of all orders within the Home Shopping division. 

Educational Supplies
The Educational Supplies division is influenced by government spending on Education. Any downward movement in
government spending on Education may adversely impact the performance of the Educational Supplies division.
The March budget confirmed the continued spending priority of the government on Education such that this risk
is not perceived to be significant in the short term.

The Gershon report issued by the government suggested that significant savings were anticipated to be
generated from Education spending through more efficient procurement techniques. There is a risk that this
expectation may lead to more pressure on prices and margins with an adverse impact on business performance.
As the Educational Supplies division is a large, efficient supplier of educational products, this may widen the
opportunities available to the company due to its scale and efficiency.

The NRS business is reliant on a small number of contracts for substantially all of its revenues. There can be no
guarantee that each of the contracts will be successfully renewed when the current contract terms expire.
However, the business is the market leader within the industry, and thereby it is well placed to renew its current
contracts and successfully bid for any new contracts that are put to tender.

Finally, each of the group’s trading divisions are dependent on third party carriers to distribute the group’s
products. The group employs several carriers so as to spread this risk over a number of parties to avoid over
dependence on a single carrier.

Restructuring costs
The restructuring of the Educational Supplies division begun in the previous financial year was completed in the
year. This involved rationalising systems, premises and product ranges, and the separation of the Healthcare
activities of the division. The costs of this restructuring in the current period amounted to £16.1m and have
been reported as an exceptional charge against the operating profit of the division. 

Share of profit of associates
The group’s share of the profit generated by its associates increased from £0.8m to £1.9m, primarily
reflecting an improved contribution from Webb Group Limited, in which the group has a 30% interest.

Minority interests
Profit attributable to equity minority interests in 2006 of £0.5m relates to the share of profit attributable to
the minority shareholders of Home Farm Hampers, net of the interim dividend paid to the shareholders during
the year.

Minority interests in the balance sheet represent the minority share of the net assets of Home Farm Hampers.

Pensions
The group’s defined benefit pension schemes were in deficit at 31 March 2005. To improve the funding of
these schemes, the group made additional voluntary contributions totalling £2.3m during the year.

The deficit for all retirement benefit schemes was £12.6m net of tax relief at 31 March 2006. The net deficit
is equal to around 2.7% of the group’s market capitalisation and can prudently be resolved over a period of
time. 

Accounting Policies and Standards
The principal accounting policies used by the group are shown on pages 34 to 38. There have been no changes
to accounting policies beyond those set out in the IFRS Transition Document. 

David Dutton
Group Finance Director 

* Benchmark measures are stated excluding amortisation of acquisition intangibles £0.9m (2005: £0.7m), restructuring costs
£16.1m (2005: £3.3m), both in the educational supplies division, and profit on sale of land held for resale £2.9m (2005: £nil)
in the Services division.
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Activities
The principal activities of the group are home shopping and educational supplies sales through mail order catalogues, the
provision of outsourced healthcare services, and the provision of logistics services to third parties.

Review of the Year and Future Prospects
The key performance indicators which management consider are important comprise:

● operating margins;

● average order value;

● retention rates in Home Shopping; and

● on-time collections and deliveries within NRS.

These can be found within the Chairman’s Statement and Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 8, along with a
review of the group’s activities, the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and its future prospects.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 3.80p (2005: 3.50p) per share was paid on 13 January 2006. The directors recommend a final
dividend of 14.20p (2005: 12.90p) per share be paid on 6 July 2006 to shareholders on the register on 9 June 2006,
with an ex-dividend date of 7 June 2006.

Share Capital
Share options outstanding at 31 March 2006 are shown in Note 27 to the financial statements.

A resolution will be proposed at the annual general meeting authorising the directors to allot shares and other
securities of the company and empowering them in certain limited circumstances to issue shares for cash without first
being required to offer such shares to existing shareholders. If the resolutions are passed the directors will be able to
allot 10,021,482 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £501,074 representing 11.79% of the issued share capital
and will be able to issue 4,248,925 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £212,446 representing 5% of the issued
share capital for cash without first offering them to existing shareholders.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to renew the authority for the company to
purchase up to 10% of its own shares. The authority would only be exercised when it was in the best interests of
shareholders and would be expected to lead to an increase in earnings per share.

Performance Share Plan
The company’s existing long-term incentive policy for senior executives has been based around periodic grants of share
options. The existing option scheme is nearing the end of its ten year life. Following a review of the possible alternative
long-term incentive arrangements, the Remuneration Committee has concluded that the current option-based policy
should be discontinued in favour of annual conditional awards of shares, which will be released to the executive after
three years if stretching performance conditions are achieved. To facilitate this change of policy it is proposed to seek
shareholder approval for a new long-term incentive arrangement, the Findel Performance Share Plan 2006.

In conjunction with the introduction of the new plan, shareholding guidelines will be introduced by the Remuneration
Committee requiring executive directors to build and maintain a significant shareholding in the business. Under the new
policy, executive directors will be expected to retain no fewer than 50% of any shares delivered under the new plan (net
of taxes) until such time as a shareholding equivalent to 100% of base salary has been achieved. The Remuneration
Committee believes that this new approach is a significant improvement over the option-based policy it replaces as it
provides a much greater focus on the achievement of stretching performance conditions and a strong emphasis on
share ownership by the most senior executives.

Supplier Payment Policy
The policy of the company is to agree in advance the terms of payment with suppliers, ensure suppliers are made aware
of those terms and to abide by such terms. The company’s trade creditors at 31 March 2006 represented 25 creditor
days (2005: 18 days) based on the total amounts invoiced by suppliers during the year.

Directors
The directors of the company at the date of this report are shown on page 9. All the directors served throughout the
year. Mr Jolly, Mr Craig, Mr Padovan and Mr Johnson will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
annual general meeting. Brief biographical details of the directors are as follows:

Mr K Chapman (63, executive chairman)
Keith Chapman joined the Findel board in March 1984 and was subsequently appointed group managing director and
then chairman and chief executive in January 1988.

Mr P E Jolly (40, chief executive)
Patrick Jolly joined the board in March 2001 as a non-executive director and was subsequently appointed chief executive
in May 2006. He is an experienced corporate finance lawyer and was previously an executive director of SurfControl plc.
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Dr I J Bolton (62, executive director and company secretary)
Ivan Bolton has been with the group for over 25 years in a number of senior commercial roles and was appointed to the
board in 1989. He has a BSc and a PhD from Leeds University and had ten years industrial experience before joining
the group.

Mr P B Maudsley (45, chief operating officer)
Philip Maudsley joined the group in 1987 as general manager of a manufacturing subsidiary. He became managing
director of the Home Shopping division in 1994 and was appointed to the board on 6 April 2004. He was subsequently
appointed group managing director in December 2004 and then chief operating officer in May 2006.

Mr D B Dutton (46, group finance director)
David Dutton joined the group in 1986. He has held a number of roles, most latterly that of group financial controller. He
was appointed to the board in December 2004 as group finance director.

Mr G P Craig (59, non-executive director)
Gordon Craig joined the board in October 1997. Until his retirement in 1997 he was a director of M & G Investment
Management Limited. He is now the chairman of Stirling Group Limited.

Mr D A Johnson (62, deputy chairman)
Tony Johnson joined Findel in 1988 as group finance director and became the group managing director in 1994. In 1997,
following the de-merger of Creative Publishing, he was appointed group chief executive. He was appointed deputy chairman
in December 2004 and relinquishes this role in July 2006 at which time he will be appointed as a non-executive director.

Mr J M F Padovan (68, non-executive director)
John Padovan joined the board in October 1997. He has considerable experience both in the City and as a public
company director, including past non-executive directorships with Tesco PLC and Whitbread PLC, and current ones,
which include chairmanship of Schroder Split Investment Fund PLC and Dawnay, Day Property Finance Limited.

Employees
The company recognises its social and statutory duty to employ disabled persons and pursues a policy of providing,
wherever possible, the same employment opportunities to disabled persons as to others. Information to employees
regarding the company and factors affecting its performance and that of its subsidiaries is provided through normal
management channels and regular consultation.

Donations
During the year the group made charitable donations of £78,826 (2005: £79,550). There were no donations for political
purposes.

Substantial Shareholdings
In addition to the directors’ interests set out in the remuneration report, the company has been notified of the following
interests in its share capital at 15 May 2006:

Proportion
Number of Share

of Shares Capital
Material interests of 3% or more

Schroders plc 17,766,073 20.90%
AXA S.A. 9,536,745 11.22%
Prudential plc 3,431,296 4.03%
Legal & General Investment Management Limited 3,253,275 3.82%

Auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved:

● so far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act
1985) of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and

● each of the directors has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Deloitte & Touche LLP have notified their willingness to continue as auditors of the company and their re-appointment
will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

By order of the board 
I J Bolton
Secretary

25 May 2006
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The company is committed to business integrity, high ethical values and professionalism in all its activities. As an
essential part of this commitment the group supports the highest standards in corporate governance. 

The board is accountable to the company’s shareholders for good governance and this statement and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 18 to 26 describe how the principles of good governance set out in the
revised Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003, are
applied within the company.

Compliance
The company complied throughout the year with the provisions of the Combined Code Principles of Good
Governance and Code of Best Practice, except in the following aspects:

A.2.2 The chairman was previously the chief executive.

A.3.2 At least half the board, excluding the chairman, has not comprised independent non-executive directors.

B.2.1 Mr P Jolly was absent from one meeting of the Remuneration Committee at which remuneration matters in
relation to his possible appointment as an executive director were discussed, in which instance the committee
comprised only two members. 

The company’s auditors, Deloitte and Touche LLP, are required to review whether the above statement reflects
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined Code specified for its review by the Listing
Rules and to report if it does not reflect such compliance.

We are committed to high standards of corporate governance. Currently less than half of the board are
independent non-executive directors. The board is currently seeking an additional independent non-executive
director and plans to become compliant with regard to the proportion of independent non-executive directors
within two years. In the short term, however, the board considers that the appointment of a further independent
non-executive director will provide an appropriate balance between refreshment and continuity. 

The Board
As at 31 March 2006, the board was made up of eight members comprising the executive chairman, four other
executive directors and three non-executive directors. The non-executive directors are considered by the board to
be independent of management and free of any relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgement. Biographical details of each of the directors, which illustrate their range of
experience, are set out on pages 10 and 11.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive is clearly established and is understood
by the board. The executive chairman is responsible for the overall strategy of the group with the chief executive
officer being responsible for implementing the strategy and for the day to day running of the group; he is assisted
by the other executive directors. 

The senior independent director is Mr G P Craig and he is the director whom shareholders may contact if they
feel their concerns are not being addressed through the normal channels. The non-executive directors meet at
least once a year without the executive directors present.

All directors are subject to election at the annual general meeting immediately following their appointment and to
re-election every three years. Any director attaining the age of 70 or, being a non-executive director having
served for seven years on the board, is subject to re-election annually.

Every year the board assesses whether each non-executive director is independent against the criteria set out in
the Combined Code. Mr Craig and Mr Padovan were first elected at an annual general meeting on 1 July 1998 and
have since then served for approximately eight years. The Nomination Committee and the board have reviewed
their performance as part of our board evaluation and concluded that they make an effective contribution as
non-executive directors and in their roles on the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees and have
challenged the executive directors in an independent manner. We have therefore reaffirmed our view that each of
these non-executive directors is independent in character and judgement. In line with the recommendations of the
Code, Mr Craig and Mr Padovan will stand for re-election by shareholders each year. 

Mr D A Johnson retires as an executive director on 3 July 2006. He is seeking re-election to the board at the
annual general meeting as a non-executive director and, in line with corporate governance best practice, will be
subject to re-election annually. Mr Johnson will not be considered to be an independent non-executive director; he
also has a consultancy agreement with the company.
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Board Procedures
The board met formally on six occasions during the year and individual attendance at those and the Board
Committee meetings is set out in the table below. All board members are supplied with information in a form and
of a quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their duties. Board and committee papers are sent out as
appropriate before meetings take place.

There is an agreed Schedule of Matters reserved for the board for collective decision including:

● determining the strategy and control of the group;

● amendments to the structure and capital of the group;

● approval of financial reporting and internal controls;

● approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a significant size;

● acquisitions and disposals above a prescribed level; and

● corporate governance matters and approval of group policies and risk management strategies.

To enable the board to perform its duties effectively all directors have full access to all relevant information and to
the services of the company secretary whose responsibility it is for ensuring that board procedures are followed.
The appointment and removal of the company secretary is a matter reserved for the board. There is an agreed
procedure whereby directors wishing to take independent legal advice in the furtherance of their duties may do so
at the company’s expense. Appropriate training is available to all directors on appointment and on an ongoing
basis as required.

The terms of reference for each of the Board Committees is available on request from the company secretary or
on the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk).

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The following table shows the attendance of directors at meetings of the board and of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees of the board during the year to 31 March 2006:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

K Chapman 6 * * 2
D A Johnson 6 * * *
I J Bolton 6 * * *
P B Maudsley 6 * * *
D B Dutton 6 * * *
G P Craig 6 3 3 2
P E Jolly 6 3 2 1
J M F Padovan 6 3 3 2

Number of meetings in the year 6 3 3 2

* where an asterisk appears in the table the director listed is not a member of the committee.

Mr P Jolly was not involved in the meeting of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee at which matters relating to his nomination as an executive director and corresponding remuneration
package were discussed.

Board Effectiveness
During the year an appraisal of the board, each Board Committee, and the performance of the individual directors
was carried out. The appraisal of the board and the committees was undertaken using questionnaires which were
completed by each director as appropriate. A summary of the responses was reviewed by the chairman prior to
the submission of the results to the whole board.

Formal appraisals of the executive and non-executive directors’ individual performance were conducted by the
chairman by holding a meeting with each director.

The non-executive directors, chaired by the senior independent director, meet once a year without the chairman
present to assess his performance. The senior independent director then discusses the results of that
assessment with the chairman.
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Relations with Shareholders
The company recognises the importance of communicating with its shareholders, including its employee
shareholders, to ensure that its strategy and performance are understood. This is achieved principally through
the Interim Report, the Annual Report and the annual general meeting. In addition, a range of corporate
information is available to investors on the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk).

The chairman, the chief executive, the chief operating officer and the group finance director are primarily
responsible for investor relations. Feedback from major shareholders is reported to the board and discussed at
its meetings. Formal presentations are made to institutional shareholders following the announcement of the
company’s full year and interim results. During the year the senior independent director has been available to
meet with institutional shareholders if requested. Although the non-executive directors are not at present asked
to meet the company’s shareholders, their attendance at presentations of the annual results is encouraged. The
board recognises that the annual general meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholders. All
directors normally attend the annual general meeting and are available to answer any questions that shareholders
may wish to raise. The Notice of Meeting is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting.
Shareholders vote on a show of hands, unless a poll is validly called and after each such vote the number of proxy
votes received for and against the resolution is announced.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under written terms of reference and is comprised of only independent
non-executive directors. The committee’s report is set out on pages 18 to 26.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee operates under written terms of reference. Its principal duty is the nomination of
suitable candidates for the approval of the board to fill executive and non-executive vacancies on the board. The
Nomination Committee comprises the chairman and the independent non-executive directors. The meetings of the
committee are chaired by the chairman.

The committee’s responsibilities include:

● regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition including the skills, knowledge and experience required
of the board compared to its current position and make recommendations to the board with regard to any
changes;

● giving full consideration to succession planning for directors and other senior executives in the course of its
work, taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing the company and what skills and expertise
are therefore needed on the board in the future;

● being responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval of the board candidates to fill board vacancies
as and when they arise;

● before making an appointment, evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the board and, in
the light of this evaluation prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular
appointment;

● keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting the company
and the market in which it depends;

● reviewing annually the time required for non-executive directors. Performance evaluation should be used to
assess whether the non-executive directors are spending enough time to fulfil their duties;

● ensuring that on appointment to the board, non-executive directors receive a formal letter of appointment
setting out clearly what is expected if them in terms of time commitment, committee service and involvement
outside board meetings; 

● keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation, both executive and non-executive, with a view
to ensuring the continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the marketplace;

● advising the board on succession planning for executive board appointments; and

● considering any other matters the board may request.

Following the appointment of a new director, the chief executive in conjunction with the company secretary, is
responsible for ensuring that a full, formal and tailored induction to the company and to his function within the
company is given.

14



During the year, on behalf of the board, the committee undertook a search for the appointment of a new chief
executive. After conducting this process, during which both internal and external candidates were considered, the
committee made a recommendation to the board which subsequently resulted in the appointment of Mr P Jolly,
previously a non-executive director, as an executive director of the company and as chief executive on 11 May
2006. The committee also recommended the appointment of Mr D A Johnson as a non-executive director and as
a consultant upon his resignation as an executive director in order to retain the benefit of his extensive financial
knowledge, commercial experience, and his knowledge of the group.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee operates under written terms of reference, which were reviewed during the year, meets at
least three times a year and is comprised of only independent non-executive directors. Mr G P Craig, the senior
non-executive director, chairs the committee. The committee, taken as a whole, is considered to have significant
recent and relevant financial experience. The expertise and experience of the members of the committee are
summarised on pages 10 and 11. The group finance director normally attends meetings by invitation and the
committee also meets with the external auditors without management present.

The external auditors attended all of the meetings (in part if appropriate) and have direct access to the committee
chairman. The company secretary acts as secretary to the committee. The chairman of the committee attends
the annual general meeting to respond to any shareholder questions that might be raised on the committee’s
activities.

The committee’s responsibilities include:

● reviewing the effectiveness of the group’s financial reporting and internal control procedures for the
identification, assessment and reporting of risks;

● reviewing with the external auditors the nature and scope of their planned work;

● reviewing the half year and annual financial statements before submission to the board, focusing particularly
on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgemental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumption;

(v) compliance with accounting standards;

(vi) compliance with applicable stock exchange and legal requirements

● discussing any problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the executive directors and other management, where
necessary);

● reviewing the cost-effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

● considering the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response; and

● considering any other matters the board may request.

The committee has the power to engage outside advisers if it considers it to be necessary.

The committee met three times in the year and its agenda is linked to events in the company’s financial calendar.
The agenda is mostly cyclical such that the committee chairman approves the agenda on behalf of all members.
Each member may require reports on matters of interest in addition to the regular items. During the year in
addition to its normal duties the committee reviewed the company’s procedures under the new International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The committee also reviews the “whistleblowing” policy under which employees may in confidence notify the
company of any concerns, including inter alia matters involving financial reporting. It also reviews the procedures
for investigating and resolving any such concerns. A copy of the whistleblowing policy is available on the company’s
website (www.findel.co.uk). The board is aware of the need to maintain an appropriate degree of independence and
objectivity on the part of the group external auditors when engaged in non-audit assignments. Both the Audit
Committee and the external auditors have safeguards in place to avoid such independence and objectivity being
compromised.
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The committee also liaises with the external auditors on the continuity and rotation of key partners from the
external auditors in accordance with the Ethical Standards of the ICAEW. The previous audit partner, having
served for a period of five years, was replaced by rotation immediately after last year’s annual general meeting. 

The group policy on the provision by the external auditors of audit and non-audit services, which is based on the
principle that the external auditors should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate
provider, categorises such services between:

● Auditor permitted services – Those services which are acceptable for the auditors to provide and the
provision of which can be engaged without referral to the Audit Committee. (e.g. regulatory and other
specialist financial reporting);

● Auditor excluded services – Those engagements that the Audit Committee and the board do not consider
appropriate for the auditors to undertake. (e.g. provision of outsourced financial or operational management
functions);

● Auditor authorised services – Those services for which it is appropriate to consider the use of the external
auditors and for which the specific approval of the Audit Committee is required before the auditors are
permitted to provide the service (e.g. transaction support and advisory work, such as due diligence).

The policy defines the types of services falling under each category and sets out the criteria to be met and the
internal approvals required prior to the commencement of any assignment. The Audit Committee reviews an
analysis of all services provided by the external auditors. The policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee
and approved by the board.

This disclosure of the fees payable to Deloitte & Touche LLP and to other accountancy firms performing audit and
non-audit services during the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. A breakdown
of the non-audit fees is included in the same note. The external auditors and committee chairman have regular
dialogue concerning matters of independence and a report is made formally to the committee on this matter
at least once a year. The Audit Committee is satisfied with the level of fees, independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of Deloitte & Touche LLP. Accordingly a resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP
as auditors of the company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The group does not have a dedicated internal audit function. The board annually reviews the need for such a
function and has done so during the year. The group does however have a function which performs a number of
internal audit tasks across the divisions and this, together with the fact that during the year, there were no
adverse trends evident from the monitoring of internal controls or unexpected or unacceptable results of a
material nature, has led the board to conclude that at present a dedicated internal audit function is not
necessary. The board will continue to keep this matter under review.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The board is responsible for the group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It is the
role of management to implement the board’s policies on risk and control through the design and operation of
appropriate internal control systems. For the whole of the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts, the board has had formal procedures in place to ensure that it is in a position to
consider all the significant aspects of internal control and has worked closely with the external auditors in
assessing and ensuring their effectiveness.

The board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control. This
review has covered all controls including operational, compliance and risk management procedures, as well as
financial. The formal process followed, and reviewed by the board, to assess the effectiveness of the group’s
system of internal control accords with the guidance set out in the Turnbull Report “Internal Control: Guidance
for directors on the Combined Code”, and is part of the ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the group. This process is summarised as follows:

● Operating management is charged with the ongoing responsibility for identifying risks facing each of the
operating units and for putting in place procedures to mitigate, manage and monitor risks;

● Operating units formally review all business risks and set out the significant risks to the operations, the
controls in place and additional controls which could be implemented. These proposals are approved by each
operating unit’s management and submitted in the form of risk action plans to group executive management
for review and approval. Any significant matters arising from this review are formally reported to the board by
the finance director to ensure that appropriate initiatives are developed and implemented to manage those
risks. The board is advised in this process by the Audit Committee;
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● The risk and control identification and management process is monitored and periodically reviewed by group
executive management;

● The key elements of the controls framework within which the group operates are:

– an organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility, delegation of authority and
reporting requirements;

– an embedded culture of openness of communication between operating company management and the
group executive management on matters relating to risk and control;

– defined expenditure authorisation levels;

– operating reviews covering all aspects of each business are conducted by group executive management
each quarter;

– a comprehensive system of financial reporting. An annual budget for each operating company is prepared
in detail and approved by the chairman and the chief executive. The board approves the overall group’s
budget and plans. Monthly actual results are reported against budget and prior year and the forecast for
the year is revised where necessary. Any significant changes and adverse variances are questioned by the
board and remedial action is taken where appropriate. There is weekly cash and treasury reporting to the
group financial director and periodic reporting to the board on the group’s tax and treasury position.

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business
objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The risk framework as outlined above, gives reasonable assurance that the structure of controls in operation is
appropriate to the group’s situation and that there is an acceptable level of risk throughout the business.

The board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
faced by the group; that this has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

Directors’ Responsibility to Prepare Financial Statements
United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial year
and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing those financial statements the directors are
required to:

● Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

● Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

● State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and the group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Going Concern
The directors consider, after making appropriate enquiries at the time of approving the financial statements, that
the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future, and accordingly, that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the Financial
Statements.
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Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (the
“Regulations”) which introduced new statutory requirements for the disclosure of directors’ remuneration in
respect of periods ending on or after 31 December 2002. The report also meets the relevant requirements of
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the board has applied the Principles of
Good Governance relating to directors’ remuneration. As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve the
report will be proposed at the annual general meeting of the company.

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration of the executive directors, including the chairman, is determined by the Remuneration Committee.
Members of the committee are the independent non-executive directors. From the time of Mr Jolly’s
appointment as an executive director it is comprised of Mr J M F Padovan and Mr G P Craig; the chairman is
Mr Padovan. No member of the committee has any personal financial interest, other than as a shareholder, in the
matters to be decided, nor any potential conflict of interest arising from cross-directorships, nor has he any
day-to-day involvement in running the business.

The chairman of the company normally attends meetings of the committee except when matters concerning his
own remuneration are discussed. Mr Jolly did not attend meetings when the remuneration for his revised role
was discussed. The committee is assisted when required by New Bridge Street Consultants LLP, who is
appointed by the committee and who provide no other services to the company.

The Remuneration Committee meets two or more times a year. Individual attendance details can be found within
the Corporate Governance Report. The committee’s terms of reference are available on the company’s website
(www.findel.co.uk); its responsibilities include:

● determining the specific remuneration of each of the directors of the company and in so doing it shall
consider all the elements of the remuneration of the directors of the company including:

(i) base salary;

(ii) performance-related payments (including profit-sharing schemes);

(iii) pension contributions; and

(iv) benefits in kind;

● considering the other provisions of the service agreements of the executive directors of the company (in
particular, the term and any notice period);

● advising on and monitoring all performance-related formulae;

● administering all aspects of any discretionary share option scheme operated by the company from time to
time, including (subject always to the rules of any such scheme and any applicable legal and stock exchange
requirements):

(i) the selection of those eligible directors and employees of the company and its subsidiary companies to
whom options should be granted;

(ii) the timing of any such grant;

(iii) the numbers of shares over which options are to be granted;

(iv) the exercise price at which options are to be granted; and

(v) the imposition of any objective conditions which must be complied with before any option may be
exercised; and to constitute the option committee under such schemes;

● reviewing on a continuing basis the company’s policy generally in relation to executive remuneration and the
factors to be considered by it when considering specific remuneration packages as listed in the first section
above;

● having regard, in the performance of the above duties, to the Code of Best Practice known as the Cadbury
Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance, the recommendations of the Greenbury Report on
directors’ Remuneration, the recommendations of the Hampel Report on Corporate Governance, and the
requirements of the Listing Rules and the Combined Code annexed to the Listing Rules and any other
published guidelines or recommendations regarding the remuneration of directors of listed companies which
the committee considers relevant or appropriate;
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● considering and making recommendations to the board concerning disclosure of details of remuneration
packages and structures in addition to those required by law or by the UK Listing Authority or the London
Stock Exchange; and

● considering such other matters as may be requested by the board.

Policy on Remuneration of Executive Directors
The remuneration policy for executive directors is to offer a remuneration package which will attract and retain the
highest calibre of executive and to ensure that individual rewards and incentives are properly aligned with personal
performance, the performance of the group, and the interests of shareholders. A significant proportion of total
remuneration is expected each year to be performance related. This policy is expected to continue in future years.

The remuneration arrangements include basic salary and benefits, performance related bonus, long term
incentives and pension rights. The main elements are:

(i) Basic salary and benefits
The level of basic salary and benefits is determined by the Remuneration Committee taking into account the
performance of the individual and advice and information from independent sources on the rates of salary for
similar positions. Individual salaries of executive directors are reviewed annually by the committee to maintain
appropriate relativities within the executive director population and within a general policy that base salary
levels are set at no higher than market median level in relation to similar sized UK listed businesses and
considering other elements of the package.

Benefits normally include the provision of a car, fuel, private medical insurance, permanent health insurance
and home telephone costs.

(ii) Performance related bonus
Executive directors each receive an annual performance related bonus of up to 60% of basic salary and these
payments are largely dependent on achievement of profit targets. The targets are set at levels which are
challenging in relation to budgets which would produce significant growth.

(iii) Share options
Executive directors have a continuing interest in share options previously granted as detailed below, however
no options have been granted during the year and no further options will be granted under the current
scheme. A separate one-off grant of share options has been made to Mr P E Jolly, as an essential part of his
recruitment package, following his appointment as an executive director.

In order to secure Mr Jolly’s appointment, the committee considered it necessary to make a one-off grant
of an option over 225,688 shares at the then current market price of 545.0p. This grant was made under
the provisions set out in the UK Listing Rules (9.4.2(2)) relating to the appointment of a director in unusual
circumstances, the purpose of which was to secure his recruitment and took into account other
opportunities open to Mr Jolly at the time of his appointment. 

In addition to considering the value of the incentive, the structure of the arrangement was considered
carefully. It was felt that a market value share option would be the most appropriate incentive vehicle as a
one-off arrangement, as this would only provide value to the executive if, and to the extent that, the share
price increases above the exercise price which was set by reference to the company’s share price on the
date of his appointment.

It was recognised that the share price at the time of the grant was trading around an all-time high level. The
committee is comfortable that this one-off arrangement will ensure that this provides a good link between
reward and shareholder value creation from the time of Mr Jolly’s appointment. The award was granted by
way of a separate contractual agreement, the key features of which are as follows:

– Key Terms
The option was granted on 11 May 2006 over 225,688 shares in the company at an exercise price of
545.0p per share (being the closing middle-market quotation of a share on 11 May 2006, the date upon
which Mr Jolly was appointed as chief executive).

While the requirement to grow the share price above the exercise price is, of itself, a performance
condition, exercise of the option is not dependent upon the satisfaction of any formal performance targets.
The option will normally become capable of exercise on the third anniversary of grant and will lapse on the
seventh anniversary of grant. Exercise of the option will be satisfied using market purchase shares.
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– Leaving Employment
The option will normally lapse if Mr Jolly’s employment ceases before the third anniversary of grant (for
whatever reason). In certain compassionate circumstances, the committee may determine that the
option should remain capable of exercise, in which case the number of shares under option would be
scaled back on a pro rata basis (by reference to the complete number of months that has elapsed
between the date of grant and the date of cessation of employment, in relation to 36 months).

The committee may impose additional conditions in relation to the exercise of the option and the
maximum period that the committee may enable the option to remain capable of exercise is 12 months
following the date of cessation of employment.

– Corporate Event
In the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement, demerger of part of the company or winding up of the
company (not being an internal corporate reorganisation) prior to the third anniversary of grant, the
option will become capable of exercise. In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation, the option
would normally be rolled over into an option over shares in the new company.

– Variation of Capital
If there is a variation to the share capital of the company or if there is a demerger then the company may
make such adjustments to the number or class of shares under option or the exercise price of the option
as it sees fit (subject to obtaining the approval to that adjustment of the professional advisers to the
company).

– Alterations to the option
The company may alter or add to the terms of the option but the prior approval of shareholders will be
required in order to amend the terms of the option to the benefit of Mr Jolly (other than minor
amendments to benefit the administration of the option, to take account of a change in legislation or to
obtain or maintain favourable tax or regulatory treatment).

– Rights of Mr Jolly in relation to the Option
The option does not affect Mr Jolly’s rights and obligations under his service contract and he will not be
entitled to claim any compensation for and loss of rights pursuant to the option. The company is required
to ensure that arrangements are in place for the transfer of a sufficient number of shares to satisfy
exercise of the option. The option is not pensionable or transferable.

(iv) New long-term incentive plan
The committee has reviewed the incentive arrangements offered to directors and other senior executives to
ensure they remain in line with best practice guidelines at the same time as meeting the requirements of the
business. As a result of the review the committee has recommended the implementation of a new
Performance Share Plan (PSP) to replace the existing share option scheme as the sole form of share based
incentive for future years. The committee considered that the annual award of share options under the
current arrangements were no longer in line with best practice investor guidelines and, most importantly, not
in alignment with the company’s primary long-term objective of generating long-term sustainable returns for
our shareholders.

As a result, the committee is seeking shareholder approval for a new PSP at the 2006 annual general
meeting on 3 July. A full summary of the new PSP is contained in the notice of annual general meeting. The
plan will provide the following:

– Maximum Award Limit
Executive directors and senior managers will be eligible to receive conditional awards of Performance
Shares with a value of up to 150% of salary each year. In exceptional circumstances, such as
recruitment, awards may be made up to 200% of salary in any year. In the first year of operation of the
PSP, awards will be limited to 125% of salary.

– Performance Conditions
Half of any award will be subject to the growth in the company’s normalised earnings per share (EPS)
(i.e. before exceptional items and amortisation). The amount by which EPS exceeds ‘RPI’ will determine
the proportion of the awards that will vest. The remaining half of the award will be subject to the relative
total shareholder return (TSR) of the company compared against the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index
(excluding Investment Trusts).
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Awards to be made in 2006 will vest on the third anniversary of grant, dependent upon the achievement
of the following performance criteria:

EPS growth of the company over Vesting percentage of 50% of the shares
the performance period subject to an award1111 1111
Less than RPI + 12% 0%

RPI + 12% 30%
RPI + 27% 100%

Between RPI + 12% and RPI + 27% Between 30% and 100% pro-rata
on a straight-line basis

TSR ranking of the company compared to the Vesting percentage of 50% of the shares
comparator group over the performance period subject to an award1111 1111

Below median ranking 0%
Median ranking 30%

Upper quartile ranking 100%
Between median and upper quartile ranking Between 30% and 100% pro-rata

on a straight-line basis

Both elements of the performance condition will be tested over a three year performance period with no
provision to re-test the performance condition. EPS and TSR were chosen for the PSP as they represent
the most appropriate measures of the company’s long-term performance. EPS represents the key
internal metric through which financial performance is measured and TSR is aligned with shareholders and
our objective of generating long-term sustainable returns to shareholders. With regard to the choice of
comparator group for the TSR element of the performance condition, the FTSE 250 (excluding investment
trusts) was chosen ahead of a bespoke group of comparator companies due to the limited number of
directly comparable companies available from which to create a bespoke group.

Further details may be found in the notes to the Notice of the annual general meeting.

EPS targets will be calculated by the company and verified by the Remuneration Committee.
TSR calculations will be performed by the committee’s advisors and verified by the committee.

(v) Shareholding Guidelines
If the PSP is approved, executive directors will be expected to retain no fewer than 50% of any shares
delivered under the PSP net of taxes until such time as a shareholding equivalent to 100% of their base
salary has been achieved.

(vi) Pension rights
Generally, the policy for executive directors’ pension arrangements is to offer a contribution towards the
executive’s pension arrangement. From the date of his appointment as an executive director the company
contributes 15% of Mr Jolly’s basic salary into his SIPP. The other executive directors have long standing
pension arrangements.The committee has considered these arrangements and feels that it would not be
appropriate to instigate any changes. 

Dr I J Bolton and Mr P B Maudsley participate on a non-contributory basis, and Mr D B Dutton participates
on a contributory basis, in the Findel Group plc Pension Fund (the “Scheme”) which provides them at their
normal retirement age of 65 with a pension of up to two-thirds of their final pensionable earnings at
retirement. In the event of retirement before the normal retirement age, their pension would normally be
reduced. Life assurance cover is four times salary for Dr Bolton and Mr Dutton, and three times salary for
Mr Maudsley. Pensions are payable in certain circumstances in the event of ill health and a spouse’s pension
is payable on death. Pensionable earnings for Dr Bolton’s service after 1 April 2003 are defined as one third
of the aggregate of his basic salary paid in the three years prior to retirement plus one ninth of the
aggregate of performance related bonuses paid in the same three year period. Previously, Dr Bolton’s terms
of service provided that elements of his emoluments as well as basic salary were taken into account in
calculating his pension entitlement. Pensionable earning for Mr Dutton and Mr Maudsley are defined as one
third of the aggregate of the member’s basic salary paid in the three years prior to retirement. For Mr K
Chapman and for Mr D A Johnson (until his resignation as an executive director), in order to ensure that the
value of their total remuneration is not reduced by the fact that on reaching normal retirement age they took
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a transfer from the Scheme and are no longer members of the Scheme, the company contributes an amount
equal to not more than the percentage of pensionable salary the company would have contributed to the
Scheme if they were members of the Scheme into their own personal pension arrangements, which amounts
were £42,240 in each case in the year ended 31 March 2006.

The Remuneration Committee considers that inclusion of a small proportion of annual bonus paid in the
definition of pensionable pay is justified after considering overall levels of base salary and bonus potential, and
considering the smoothing effect of averaging the bonuses paid over three years.

Performance Graph
The following graph contrasts the total shareholder return of the company (calculated in accordance with The
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002) with the FTSE 350 General Retailers Index. This index was
selected as being, in the opinion of the committee, the most appropriate for comparison.

Service Agreements
It continues to be the Remuneration Committee’s policy that service agreements for executive directors should
be terminable on not more than 12 months notice, in line with current market practice. In the event of early
termination of a service agreement, the committee would consider appropriate use of mitigation and phased
compensation payments. 

Mr Chapman’s service agreement is terminable subject to 1 year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
12 June 1989 and has been subsequently varied, most recently with effect from 1 April 2003. On a change of
control (as defined in his contract), the company is deemed to have automatically given notice of termination of
the service agreement. Mr Chapman would, therefore, be entitled to a damages payment of 1 times current base
salary together with an amount equal to the average of benefits in kind and bonus payable over each of the three
previous years. In addition, an amount equal to the sum which the company would have paid into the Findel Group
plc Pension Fund (the “Scheme”) had he remained in the Scheme for an additional year would be included subject
to the extent permitted by the rules of the Scheme and Inland Revenue limits. The board would also use such
discretions as it may have to allow Mr Chapman to exercise any outstanding share options.

Mr Johnson’s service agreement (until his retirement as an executive director) was terminable subject to
1 year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on 12 June 1989 and was subsequently varied, most recently
with effect from 1 April 2003; it terminates on 3 July 2006. On a change of control (as defined in his contract),
the company would have been deemed to have automatically given notice of termination of the service agreement.
Mr Johnson would, therefore, have been entitled to damages payment of 1 times current base salary together
with an amount equal to the average of benefits in kind and bonus payable over each of the three previous years.
The board would also have used such discretions as it may have to allow Mr Johnson to exercise any outstanding
share options. Following his retirement from the executive board, no compensation has, or will, be paid.

Findel plc 5-year total return v total return of FTSE 350 General Retailers Index
(3 month rolling average)
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Dr Bolton’s service agreement is terminable subject to 1 year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
12 June 1989 and has been subsequently varied, most recently with effect from 1 April 2003. On a change of
control (as defined in his contract), the company is deemed to have automatically given notice of termination of
the service agreement. Dr Bolton would, therefore, be entitled to a damages payment of 1 times current base
salary together with an amount equal to the average of benefits in kind and bonus payable over each of the three
previous years. In addition, one year’s additional Pensionable Service would be included subject to the extent
permitted by the rules of the Scheme and Inland Revenue limits and he may elect to receive an immediate pension
subject to no actuarial reduction.

Mr Maudsley’s service agreement is terminable subject to 1 year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
6 October 1997. The contract contains no provision for compensation to be payable on early termination and
assessment of damages would be subject to mitigation. Mr Maudsley’s benefits included a three-year bonus
scheme relating to the performance of the Home Shopping division in the period to 31 March 2005, the
performance criteria of which have been achieved and the final payment has been paid.

Mr Dutton’s service agreement is terminable subject to 1 year’s notice by either party. It was entered into on
20 September 1991 and was subsequently varied on 31 August 2001. The contract contains no provision for
compensation to be payable on early termination and assessment of damages would be subject to mitigation.

Mr Jolly’s service agreement was entered into on 11 May 2006. It is terminable subject to 1 year’s notice by
either party; it contains no provision for compensation to be payable on early termination and assessment of
damages would be subject to mitigation.

The appointment of non-executive directors is for an initial period of 3 years, subject to review and re-election
at General Meeting. They do not have service agreements. Letters of Appointment for Mr G P Craig and
Mr J M F Padovan were dated 18 August 1997 and for Mr D A Johnson 11 May 2006 and they are each due to
be proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting in 2006 and annually thereafter. 

The remuneration of the non-executive directors takes the form solely of fees, which are set by the board having
taken advice on appropriate levels. The current fee of Mr Craig is £37,500 per annum, and of Mr Padovan is
£35,000 per annum. The fee of Mr Johnson will be £35,000 per annum from 3 July 2006. He will also receive
£60,000 per annum for consultancy services under separate arrangements which run to the end of May 2007
and can be terminated at that time or thereafter on six months notice by either party.

The information set out in the following section of the report is subject to audit.

(i) Emoluments of the directors
The emoluments of the directors in the year ended 31 March 2006 are shown below:

Salary/fees Benefits in Annual 2006 2005
Kind Bonus Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive
K Chapman 398 31 206 635 654
D A Johnson 309 30 165 504 518
I J Bolton 250 25 129 404 422
D B Dutton 200 20 96 316 118
P B Maudsley 300 26 554 880 700
Non-executive
G P Craig 37 — — 37 34
P E Jolly 82 — — 82 32
J M F Padovan 35 — — 35 32

1 1 1 1 1
Total 1,611 132 1,150 2,893 2,510

The figures above represent emoluments paid to directors during the relevant financial period. Such emoluments
are paid in the same financial period in which they are earned with the exception of performance related bonuses,
which are paid in the period following that in which they are earned. The salary paid to Mr Jolly includes payment,
in addition to his fees as a non-executive director, in relation to a period prior to his accepting the chief executive
role during which he worked full time for the group on a consulting basis. Mr Maudsley’s annual bonus includes the
final payment of £416,667 in respect of a three-year bonus scheme relating to the performance of the Home
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Shopping division over the three years to 31 March 2005. In relation to bonuses payable in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2005, the financial performance over the year was such that the Remuneration Committee
considered that payment of bonuses of 55% under the group plan were appropriate. 

Benefit in kind comprises the private use of a motor car, private health insurance and home telephone costs.

(ii) Directors’ pension entitlements
Dr I J Bolton, Mr D B Dutton and Mr P B Maudsley are current members of the Findel Group Pension Fund, a
defined benefit scheme.

The following directors had accrued entitlements under the scheme as follows:

Increase Transfer Accrued Accrued Increase Transfer Transfer Increase
in value of pension pension in value of value of in

accrued increase 31 Mar 31 Mar accrued accrued accrued transfer
pension 2006 2005 pension pension pension value

excluding including 31 Mar 31 Mar over the
inflation inflation 2006 2005 period

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
I J Bolton 25 430 174 145 29 2,947 2,173 774
D B Dutton 13 97 45 31 14 342 209 133
P B Maudsley 25 182 71 45 26 526 294 232

The pension entitlements shown above are those which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to
the end of the period. The transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with
Actuarial Guidance Note GN11. The transfer values disclosed above do not represent a sum paid or payable to
the individual director. Instead they represent a potential liability of the pension scheme. The non-executive
directors do not receive pension benefits.

(iii) Directors’ share options and long term incentive plan
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire
ordinary shares and notional ordinary shares in the company granted to or held by the directors under the
Share Option Schemes and the Long Term Incentive Plan respectively.

Details of options for directors who served during the year are as follows:

31 March Granted Exercised 31 March Exercise Exercise
2005 2006 price period

Interests in Share Options
K Chapman 79,439 — 79,439 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2005

14,018 — — 14,018 214.0p May 2002 – May 2008
D A Johnson 79,439 — 79,439 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2005

14,018 — — 14,018 214.0p May 2002 – May 2008
I J Bolton 39,719 — 39,719 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2005
D B Dutton 105,682 — — 105,682 360.75p May 2007 – May 2011
P B Maudsley 15,186 — 15,186 — 214.0p May 2002 – May 2005

14,018 — — 14,018 214.0p May 2002 – May 2008
44,326 — — 44,326 141.0p May 2003 – May 2006

188,842 — — 188,842 360.75p May 2007 – May 2011

Interests in notional shares under the long term incentive plan
K Chapman 534,082 — — 534,082 133.5p July 2002 – July 2009
D A Johnson 411,985 — — 411,985 133.5p July 2002 – July 2009
I J Bolton 262,172 — — 262,172 133.5p July 2002 – July 2009
D B Dutton 11,859 — — 11,859 263.5p May 2003 – May 2010
P B Maudsley 26,736 — — 26,736 205.0p Dec 2002 – Dec 2009

11,859 — — 11,859 263.5p May 2003 – May 2010
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Details of share options granted since 31 March 2006 are as follows:

Date of Grant Granted Exercise Exercise
price period

P E Jolly 11 May 2006 225,688 545.0p May 2009 – May 2013

The one-off grant being made after the year end to Mr Jolly was determined by the Remuneration Committee as
an essential part of the remuneration package required to attract him to his new role. 

Details of share options exercised during the year are as follows:

Mid market Notional
Date of Number of Exercise price on date gain on

exercise shares price of exercise exercise
K Chapman 12 May 2005 79,439 214.0p 458.5p £194,228
D A Johnson 12 May 2005 79,439 214.0p 458.5p £194,228
I J Bolton 12 May 2005 39,719 214.0p 458.5p £97,112
P B Maudsley 12 May 2005 15,186 214.0p 458.5p £37,129

The performance criteria for all awards, other than those granted during the year ended 31 March 2005 (which
have an exercise period commencing May 2007), under the share option schemes and the long term incentive
plan have been met. For options granted during the year ended 31 March 2005, the performance condition
requires average annual EPS growth of between RPI+2% for two thirds of options to be exercisable and RPI+3%
for all options to be exercisable. The performance condition was determined by the Remuneration Committee to
provide a valid objective.

As was disclosed when the share option scheme was approved by shareholders in 1997, a cash bonus equivalent
to 20% of the market value of shares purchased on exercise and retained for a period of two years is payable at
the end of such two year period. No such bonus has been paid to a director since the scheme started, but
directors currently hold shares which they acquired by exercise of options and, if held for the remainder of the
respective two year periods, will give rise to bonus amounts of 20% of their value at that time.

Details of share options exercised since 31st March 2006 are as follows:

Mid market Notional
Date of Number of Exercise price on date gain on

exercise shares price of exercise exercise
P B Maudsley 11 May 2006 44,326 141.0p 545.0p 179,077
D A Johnson 11 May 2006 14,018 214.0p 545.0p 46,399

Details of long term incentives exercised since 31st March 2006 are as follows:

Number of Mid market Notional
Date of notional Exercise price on date gain on

exercise shares price of exercise exercise
D A Johnson 11 May 2006 411,985 133.5p 535.0p 1,654,119

Other than the details above, no directors exercised any share options or long term incentives during the year
ended 31 March 2006 or the year ended 31 March 2005. The company, in line with the rules of the long term
incentive plan, chose to settle the gain on exercise to Mr Johnson in cash.

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options or awards
under the long term incentive plan during the year ended 31 March 2006.

The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 March 2006 was 557.5p and the range during the year was
401.0p up to 559.0p.

The non-executive directors do not participate in the share option schemes or the long term incentive plan.

During the year, certain former directors provided services on a consultancy basis to the group. The total
payments made in respect of such services were £35,000.
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Directors’ interests
The beneficial interests of the directors, together with non-beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the
company are shown below.

31 March 2006 31 March 2005
Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

K Chapman 4,888,590 — 4,809,151 2,000,000
D A Johnson 415,115 — 335,676 —
I J Bolton 287,925 — 248,206 —
D B Dutton 44,326 — 44,326 —
P B Maudsley 64,920 — 49,734 —
G P Craig 40,000 — 40,000 —
P E Jolly 2,383 — 2,383 —
J M F Padovan 10,000 — 10,000 —

Following the exercise of share options on May 2006 detailed above, the beneficial interests in the ordinary
shares of the company of Mr Maudsley have increased to 109,246. Following the announcement of his
resignation as an executive director on 11 May 2006 Mr Johnson has sold 150,000 of the shares which he
held on 31 March 2006 and has also sold the 14,018 shares which he acquired on exercise of his share options
on 11 May 2006. Mr Johnson retains a beneficial interest in 265,115 ordinary shares of the company. There
have been no other changes in directors’ interests since 31 March 2006.

On behalf of the board
J M F Padovan
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
25 May 2006
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Corporate Social Responsibility
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The group is very clear as to the increasing importance of all areas of Corporate Social Responsibility in the conduct of
the company, its employees and its suppliers. Investor interest is increasingly concerned with our stance in this area
and the group is determined to remain both fully compliant with all relevant legislation and increasingly involved in such
matters.

This year, we have become involved with the Carbon Disclosure Project Secretariat in expressing our views and
involvement in greenhouse gas emissions, although it is recognised that, as a predominantly non-manufacturing
company, our emissions in this area are not significant.

The Findel company secretary, Dr I J Bolton, has overall responsibility for all corporate social responsibility affairs and
he devolves day to day responsibility to the group director of health & safety. The latter chairs a review body which
meets to assess legislative or other directives in order to set strategy and targets, and review the group’s progress
against these. This review body comprises senior facilities and purchasing managers from the group’s major operating
companies. We have now been compiling figures for four years on which to base our future targets.

Environmental policy
With the increasing importance across the world and the UK of energy consumption and global warming, we have
identified that, as a predominantly distribution company with minimal manufacturing involvement, our environmental
policy concentrates on energy consumption, waste disposal and, on a wider scope, product sourcing.

Our overall aim within this is to reduce our effect on the environment year on year as measured against our sales
growth.

In particular, we are:

● Working with key suppliers to improve both their compliance and performance with, for example, electrical
appliances that we sell;

● Actively considering and, where relevant, implementing recommendations to improve our environmental
performance;

● Monitoring and seeking to achieve our set targets on best practice in these areas;

● Ensuring that we comply with all environmental legislation.

As a mail order distribution company, one of our key areas of focus is reducing the consumption of materials, especially
paper and packaging. Significant studies have been taken across the past year to harmonise best principles across the
group. For example, changing from carbon infill materials and corrugated paper, bubble wrap, greenfill chips, etc. to a
bag in the box style. This has now been introduced across almost the whole of the group’s operations.

Waste reduction and re-cycling has also been rolled out across the group with increasing success. A major
concentration is currently taking place on reducing the number of parcels required to effect individual customer’s
deliveries. This has a dual benefit of both reducing packaging and transport, and hence C02 emission.

Energy
Our major use of energy is in heating, lighting and powered conveying equipment, and in the internal vehicle fleet.
Consolidation of the group’s activities has enabled us to dispose of one major office site and significant warehouse
space during the year, which has a significant effect on our overall energy usage.

Vehicle fleet’s CO2 emissions are calculated and measured monthly and we have continued our move towards a more
diesel oriented fleet in order to further reduce this.

Material consumption and waste management
With ever increasing volumes of product emanating from the Far East and India, our well-established Ethical Trading
Policy documents remain key to our selection and ongoing trading with suppliers in those regions. This policy document
clearly lays out our contractual standards in order to meet both United Nations and local laws on working conditions,
employment, pay rates, holidays, etc. Resident staff in both India and Hong Kong enable us to ensure that these
standards are met on an ongoing basis. Regular and surprise visits to suppliers are a key part in ensuring compliance.

Human resources
With the exception of some 25 staff based in India and Hong Kong, the group is a UK based employer. Many of our
sites are located in multi-cultural areas and we work hard to create and run a fair, equal opportunities employment
culture that embraces this multi-culturism, of which prayer areas on some sites are representative. We are also
committed to promotion on merit and filling job opportunities in-house wherever possible.

Community Support
Both the company and its employees work to support local communities, predominantly in the areas where we have
group facilities. Our Home Shopping and Educational Supplies products are also much in demand for donating to less
privileged schools, good causes and establishments, both in the UK and abroad.
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To the members of Findel plc
We have audited the group financial statements of Findel plc for the year ended 31 March 2006 which comprise
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, the
consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement and the related notes. These group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately (page 62) on the individual company financial statements of Findel plc for the year
ended 31 March 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report, the directors' remuneration report and the group
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted for use in the European Union are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report
described as having been audited in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance
with the relevant financial reporting framework and whether the group financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report described as having been audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We report to you whether, in our opinion, the
information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the group financial statements. We also report to
you if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified
by law regarding directors’ transactions with the company and other members of the group is not disclosed.

We also report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not complied with any of the four directors’
remuneration disclosure requirements specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority. These comprise the amount of each element in the remuneration package and information on share
options, details of long term incentive schemes, and money purchase and defined benefit schemes. We give a
statement, to the extent possible, of details of any non-compliance.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statement on
internal control covers all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the directors’ report and the other information contained in the annual report for the above year as
described in the contents section including the unaudited part of the directors’ remuneration report and we
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the group financial statements. 

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the group financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report described as
having been audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.



We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the group financial
statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report described as having been audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the group financial statements and the part
of the directors’ remuneration report described as having been audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

● the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use in the
European Union, of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 March 2006 and of its profit for the year then
ended;

● the group financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report described as having been
audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

● the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the group financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
25 May 2006
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year ended 31 March 2006
2006 2005

Notes £000 £000
Continuing operations

Revenue 3 527,796 474,031

Cost of sales (285,671) (246,390)
1 1

Gross profit 242,125 227,641

Trading costs 4 (177,316) (169,379)

Share of profit of associates 18 1,941 799

Amortisation of intangibles 15 (930) (661)

Restructuring costs 6 (16,055) (3,274)
1 1

Operating profit 49,765 55,126

Finance income 7 5,522 3,913

Finance costs 8 (20,220) (17,516)
1 1

Profit before tax

Before amortisation of intangible assets and restructuring costs 52,052 45,458

Amortisation of intangible assets (930) (661)

Restructuring costs (16,055) (3,274)

Total profit before tax 35,067 41,523

Profit before tax 35,067 41,523

Income tax expense 9 (4,933) (11,602)
1 1

Profit for the year 10 30,134 29,921
1 1

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 29,660 29,339

Minority interest 474 582
1 1

30,134 29,921
1 1

Earnings per share 13

From continuing operations:

Basic 35.58p 35.41p
1 1

Diluted 35.09p 34.91p
1 1

Benchmark 47.04p 39.05p
1 1
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year ended 31 March 2006
2006 2005
£000 £000

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 365 (106)
1 1

Net expense recognised directly in equity 365 (106)

Profit for the year 30,134 29,921
1 1

Total recognised income and expense for the year 30,499 29,815
1 1

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 30,025 29,233

Minority interest 474 582
1 1

30,499 29,815
1 1
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year ended 31 March 2006
2006 2005

Notes £000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 14 48,427 47,853
Other intangible assets 15 34,685 35,615
Property, plant and equipment 16 62,954 57,147
Investments in associates 18 10,324 8,383

1 1
156,390 148,998
1 1

Current assets
Inventories 19 101,068 103,212
Trade and other receivables 20 232,506 199,362
Derivative financial instruments 25 254 43
Cash at bank and in hand 21 2,284 4,147

1 1
336,112 306,764
1 1
1 1

Total assets 492,502 455,762
1 1

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 76,827 81,375
Current tax liabilities 3,627 7,979
Obligations under finance leases 23 518 421
Bank overdrafts and loans 24 19,082 102,558
Derivative financial instruments 25 24 820

1 1
100,078 193,153
1 1

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 24 244,172 130,000
Obligations under finance leases 23 986 1,110
Deferred tax liabilities 26 7,024 5,614
Retirement benefit obligation 35 18,024 19,814

1 1
270,206 156,538
1 1
1 1

Total liabilities 370,284 349,691
1 1

NET ASSETS 122,218 106,071
1 1

EQUITY
Share capital 28 4,245 4,233
Capital redemption reserve 29 403 403
Share premium account 29 23,409 22,926
Merger reserve 29 29,518 29,518
Own shares 29 (3,171) (3,171)
Liability for share-based payments 29 60 30
Hedging and translation reserves 30 259 (106)
Retained earnings 31 67,313 51,577

1 1
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 122,036 105,410
Minority interest 182 661

1 1
TOTAL EQUITY 122,218 106,071

1 1
Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 25 May 2006

K Chapman
Directors

D B Dutton }
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year ended 31 March 2006
2006 2005

Notes £000 £000
Operating activities

Operating profit 49,765 55,126

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,910 6,928

Amortisation of other intangible assets 930 661

Share-based payment expense 30 281

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,049) (647)

Pension contributions less income statement charge (2,307) (1,513)

Share of profit of associates (1,941) (799)
1 1

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 49,338 60,037

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 2,229 (14,470)

Increase in receivables (29,928) (20,254)

(Decrease)/increase in payables (5,118) 856
1 1

Cash generated from operations 16,521 26,169

Income taxes paid (7,874) (11,779)

Interest paid (15,364) (12,801)
1 1

Net cash from operating activities (6,717) 1,589
1 1

Investing activities

Interest received 256 102

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,567 2,578

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16,360) (8,985)

Acquisition of subsidiary — (33,936)
1 1

Net cash used in investing activities (11,537) (40,241)
1 1

Financing activities

Dividends paid (13,924) (12,317)

Dividends paid to minorities (954) (706)

Repayments of obligations under finance leases (27) (897)

Proceeds on issue of shares 495 1,236

New bank loans raised 35,000 25,000

Movement on securitisation loan 4,783 8,774
1 1

Net cash from financing activities 25,373 21,090
1 1

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,119 (17,562)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (14,022) 3,594

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 105 (54)
1 1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21 (6,798) (14,022)
1 1
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies

Findel plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The address of the
registered office is given on page 9. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in
note 5, and in the Chairman’s Statement and Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 8.

These financial statements are presented in sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the accounting
policies set out below.

IFRS 1 “First time adoption of International Reporting Standards” permits those companies adopting IFRS for the
first time to take certain exemptions from the full requirements of IFRS in the transition period. The group has taken
advantage of the following exemptions:

● IFRS requires the tracking of all cumulative foreign exchange adjustments taken to reserves. These amounts
are reversed upon any subsequent disposal of the business to which it relates. The cumulative translational
foreign exchange difference that has been taken to reserves for foreign operations to the transition date has
been assumed to be zero.

● Cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the date of transition on the valuation of post-employment benefit
assets and liabilities have been recognised as an adjustment to equity.

● The acquisition accounting of business combinations completed prior to 30 September 2000 has not been
restated. The net book value of goodwill at this date has been treated as deemed cost of goodwill under IFRS.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are a number of Standards and Interpretations in
issue but not yet effective which have not been applied in these financial statements, the most significant of which
are as follows:

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures; and the related amendment to IAS 1 on capital disclosures
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no
material impact on the financial statements of the group except for the additional disclosures on capital and
financial instruments required by IFRS 7, which comes into effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2007.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
for the first time. The disclosures required by IFRS 1 concerning the transition from UK GAAP to IFRSs are given in
note 37. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted for use in the European
Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted
are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They cease to be
consolidated from the date that the group no longer has control.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared to the same reporting date as the parent company.

Associates
Associates are entities over which the group has significant influence but not control. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the Investee but is not control or joint control
over these policies. The equity method is used to account for investments in associates and investments are initially
recognised at cost.

The group’s share of net assets of its associates, loans, and non-equity investments made to associates is included
in the group balance sheet. The group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in
the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in equity is recognised in the group’s equity.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. The
carrying amount if an investment in an associate is tested for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount to
its carrying value whenever there is an indication that the investment may be impaired.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged
in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

The group is organised into three core divisions which are the primary business segments:

● Home Shopping;

● Educational Supplies; and

● Services.

The secondary reporting segments are the main geographic areas in which the group operates.

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services to external customers, net of value added tax,
rebates, discounts and returns. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. A provision for estimated returns is made, representing the
profit on goods sold during the year which will be returned and refunded after the year end. Revenue is reduced by
the value of sales returns provided for during the year.

Interest income
Interest income on customer credit accounts is recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised in respect of non-interest related financial income, delivery charges and parcel insurance. In
addition, various services are provided under the group’s healthcare contracts. Income is recognised when the
relevant service has been provided to the customer.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentational currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the company’s and group’s functional and
presentational currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. At
each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Translation differences on monetary items are taken to the
income statement with the exception of differences on translations that are subject to effective cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss and are included in
either equity or the income statement as appropriate.

Group companies
The results and financial position of overseas group entities are translated into sterling as follows:

● Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

● Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period;

● All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings, are taken to equity. Tax charges and credits attributable to those exchange differences are taken
directly to equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Share-based payments
The group operates a number of equity-settled, share based compensation plans.

The fair value of the employee services received under such schemes is recognised as an expense in the income
statement. Fair value is determined by use of the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model. The amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of share incentives, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of
share incentives that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the group revises its estimates of the
number of share incentives that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is
recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity, over the remaining vesting period.

Restructuring costs
The restructuring of the group’s existing operations and the integration of acquisitions gives rise to significant
incremental non-recurring costs. The group views restructuring costs as costs associated with investment in
future performance of the business and not part of the group’s trading performance. These costs have a material
impact on the absolute amount of and trend in the group operating profit and operating margins. Therefore such
restructuring costs are shown as a separate line item within operating profit on the face of the income statement.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to Findel plc shareholders are recognised in the group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value:

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis as follows:

● Freehold properties are depreciated over 50 years;

● Leasehold premises with lease terms of 50 years or less are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease;

● Plant, vehicles and equipment are depreciated over 3 to 20 years according to the estimated life of the asset;

● Equipment on hire or lease is depreciated over the period of the lease;

● Land is not depreciated.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the consideration payable for an acquisition over the fair value of the
group’s share of identifiable net assets of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired at the date of
acquisition. Fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that existed at
the date of acquisition, reflecting their condition at that date. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the
accounting policies of acquired businesses into alignment with those of the group.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and
joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment.
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. An impairment charge is recognised for any amount
by which the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold,
allocated where necessary on the basis of relative fair value.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goodwill, if those
assets are separable and their fair value can be measured reliably. Intangible assets acquired separately from the
acquisition of a business are capitalised at cost.

The cost of intangible assets with finite useful economic lives is amortised over that period. The carrying values of
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
values may not be recoverable.

Brand names
Legally protected or otherwise separable trade names acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at
fair value on acquisition. Brand names are assumed to have an indefinite life and are not amortised, but are subject
to annual impairment tests.
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Customer relationships
Contractual and non-contractual customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised
at fair value on acquisition and amortised on a straight line basis over 20 years, representing the directors’ best
estimate of their useful economic lives.

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less provision for impairment.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the group will
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the income statement. The cost of irrecoverable trade receivables is recognised in the income
statement immediately.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents are as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Borrowings and borrowing costs
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred, except for issue costs which are amortised
over the period of the borrowing.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The
group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily forward foreign currency contracts) to hedge its risks
associated with foreign currency transactions. The significant interest rate risk arises from bank loans. The group
converts a proportion of its floating rate debt to fixed rates.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair
value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future
cash flows are recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised
in the income statement as they arise.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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1 General Information and Accounting Policies – continued

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, if the
deferred taxation arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for. Deferred taxation is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred
taxation asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Leases

Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Property, plant and equipment
acquired under the finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and its lease term.

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction of
the charge over the periods benefiting from the incentives.

Retirement benefit costs
The group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that
defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the group pays fixed contributions into an independently administered fund. The group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The cost of providing these benefits, recognised in the
income statement, comprises the amount of contributions payable to the schemes in respect of the year.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the present value of the group’s defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of the plan assets are amortised over the expected average remaining lives of the
participating employees.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.

As allowed by IFRS 1, the cumulative deficit on defined benefit pension schemes at the date of transition to IFRS has
been recognised in full as an adjustment to equity.
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2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, management has made the
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Retirement benefits – within the UK, the group operates a number of approved defined benefit schemes. The
pension costs relating to the retirement plans are accounted for under IAS 19 (“Employee benefits”) with the cost
of providing retirement benefits determined using the projected unit credit method, and actuarial valuations being
carried out at each balance sheet date. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, including discount rates,
expected returns on plan assets and compensation increases. These actuarial assumptions are reviewed annually
and modified as appropriate in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries.

Share-based payments – the group offers share and share option plans to certain employees as part of their
compensation and benefits package, designed to improve alignment of the interests of employees with those of
shareholders. The costs relating to these share-based payments are accounted for under IFRS 2 (“Share-based
payments”), those costs being calculated principally using the Black-Scholes model as a valuation basis. Inherent in
these calculations are key assumptions regarding expected volatility, an appropriate risk free rate and expected
dividend yield. These assumptions are reviewed annually and modified as appropriate.

Taxation – accruals for tax contingencies require the exercising of judgement in relation to potential tax exposures.
Amounts accrued are based on interpretation of tax law and the likelihood of settlement. Tax benefits are not
recognised unless the tax positions are probable of being sustained. Once considered to be probable, each material
tax benefit is reviewed to assess whether a provision should be taken against full recognition of the benefit on the
basis of the potential settlement. All such provisions are included within current liabilities. Any recorded exposure to
interest on tax liabilities is provided for in the tax charge. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the asset can be utilised requiring judgements to be
made in respect of the forecast of future taxable income.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Goodwill and Intangible assets – the group has significant investments in both goodwill and intangible assets as a
result of acquisitions of businesses and purchases of such assets. Goodwill and certain intangible assets are held
at cost and tested annually for impairment. Tests for impairment are based on discounted cash flow projections,
which require an estimate of both future operating cash flows and an appropriate discount rate. Such estimates
are inherently subjective. No impairments to goodwill or intangible assets were identified in 2006 or 2005.

Derivative financial instruments – derivative financial instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their fair
value in accordance with IAS 39 (“Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”). Changes in the fair value
of derivatives are recognised in the income statement unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. These fair
values are based upon readily obtainable market price quotations. However, these are only an estimate of how future
prices will move and are inherently subjective.

Trade receivables – trade receivables are recognised on the balance sheet at original invoice amount less provision
for impairment. Provisions for impairment are established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be
able to collect all amounts due and are based on anticipated collection rates at each year end. These collection rates
are estimated based on historical and current trends and are inherently subjective.
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2006 2005
£000 £000

3 Revenue
An analysis of the group’s revenue is as follows:

Sale of goods 424,768 382,282
Rendering of services 65,823 56,330
Interest 37,205 35,419

1 1
527,796 474,031

Other operating income 5,523 2,372
Finance income 5,522 3,913

1 1
538,841 480,316
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

4 Trading costs
An analysis of the group’s trading costs is as follows:

Selling and distribution costs 120,443 105,783
Administrative expenses 62,193 65,831
Other operating income (5,523) (2,372)
Other operating expenses 203 137

1 1
177,316 169,379
1 1

Other operating income includes profit of £2,878,000 (2005: £nil) on sale of land held for resale.
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5 Business and Geographical Segments

Business Segments
For management purposes, the group is currently organised into three operating divisions – Home Shopping,
Educational Supplies and Services.

These divisions are the basis on which the group reports its primary segment information.

The principal activities of these divisions are described on pages 4 and 5.

Segment information about these businesses is presented below.

2006
Home Shopping Education Services Eliminations Total

2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue
External sales 230,619 228,406 85,563 (16,792) 527,796
Inter-segment sales (2,611) (150) (14,031) 16,792 —

1 1 1 1 1
Total revenue 228,008 228,256 71,532 — 527,796

1 1 1 1 1
Intersegment sales are charged at prevailing market prices

Result
Segment result 31,839 27,554 5,416 — 64,809

1 1 1 1 1
Restructuring costs (16,055)
Amortisation of intangible assets (930)
Share of results of associates 1,941

1
Operating profit 49,765
Finance income 5,522
Finance costs (20,220)

1
Profit before tax 35,067
Tax (4,933)

1
Profit after taxation 30,134

1
Restructuring costs and amortisation of intangible assets relate entirely to the Educational Supplies business
segment. The segment result of the Educational Supplies business after charging these items is £10,569,000.

The segment result of the Services division includes a profit on the sale of land held for resale of £2,878,000.

Other information Home Shopping Education Services Eliminations Total
2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital additions 7,575 9,240 119 — 16,934
Depreciation and amortisation 4,400 3,214 226 — 7,840
Impairment losses — — — — —

Balance Sheet

Assets
Segment assets 257,446 193,014 9,307 — 459,767

1 1 1 1
Investments in associates 10,324
Unallocated corporate assets 22,411

1
Consolidated total assets 492,502

1
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (112,645) (47,093) (10,348) — (170,086)

1 1 1 1
Unallocated corporate liabilities (200,198)

1
Consolidated total liabilities (370,284)

1
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5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued

2005
Home Shopping Education Services Eliminations Total

2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue
External sales 241,020 163,674 83,814 (14,477) 474,031
Inter-segment sales (1,906) (151) (12,420) 14,477 —

1 1 1 1 1
Total revenue 239,114 163,523 71,394 — 474,031

1 1 1 1 1
Intersegment sales are charged at prevailing market prices

Result
Segment result 40,131 15,495 2,636 — 58,262

1 1 1 1
Restructuring costs (3,274)
Amortisation of intangible assets (661)
Share of results of associates 799

1
Operating profit 55,126
Finance income 3,913
Finance costs (17,516)

1
Profit before tax 41,523
Tax (11,602)

1
Profit after tax 29,921

1
Restructuring costs and amortisation of intangible assets relate entirely to the Educational Supplies business
segment. The segment result of the Educational Supplies business after charging these items is £11,560,000.

Other information Home Shopping Education Services Eliminations Total
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital additions 5,406 33,368 139 — 38,913
Depreciation and amortisation 4,777 2,614 198 — 7,589
Impairment losses — — — — —

Balance Sheet

Assets
Segment assets 239,096 176,304 6,965 — 422,365

1 1 1 1
Investments in associates 8,383
Unallocated corporate assets 25,014

1
Consolidated total assets 455,762

1
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (110,228) (56,248) (10,644) — (177,120)

1 1 1 1
Unallocated corporate liabilities (172,571)

1
Consolidated total liabilities (349,691)

1
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5 Business and Geographical Segments – continued

Geographical segments
The group’s operations are located in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the
goods/services.

2006 2005
£000 £000

United Kingdom 513,074 455,153
Europe 6,489 9,280
Asia 3,315 5,861
Other 4,918 3,737

1 1
527,796 474,031
1 1

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segmental assets, and additions to property, plant and
equipment (PPE) and intangible assets, analysed by geographical area in which the assets are located.

Additions to PPE and
Segment assets intangibles

2006 2005 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000

United Kingdom 111,203 98,480 16,929 38,892
Hong Kong 11,015 7,591 5 21

1 1 1 1
122,218 106,071 16,934 38,913
1 1 1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

6 Restructuring costs
The following is an analysis of the restructuring costs arising within the group
during the year.

Restructuring costs
– Site rationalisation and closure costs 5,267 1,023
– Stock rationalisation 5,165 108
– Redundancies 2,837 1,293
– Integration 2,047 —
– Consultancy 739 366
– Other — 484

1 1
16,055 3,274
1 1

Restructuring costs relate to the integration and rationalisation of the Educational Supplies division. Of the
restructuring costs incurred in the prior year, £0.5m relate to acquisitions in that year.

2006 2005
£000 £000

7 Finance income
Interest on bank deposits 269 102
Expected return on pension assets (note 35) 4,246 3,811
Amounts arising on derivatives trading not in a designated
hedge accounting relationship 1,007 —

1 1
5,522 3,913

1 1
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2006 2005
£000 £000

8 Finance costs
On bank loans and overdrafts 15,374 12,762
On finance leases 83 84

1 1
Total borrowing costs 15,457 12,846
Amounts arising on derivatives trading not in a designated
hedge accounting relationship — 283
Interest on pension obligations (note 35) 4,763 4,387

1 1
20,220 17,516
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

9 Income tax expense
Current tax – current year 5,561 11,910

– adjustments in respect of prior periods (2,038) 633
1 1

3,523 12,543

Deferred tax – current year 2,220 (253)
– adjustments in respect of prior periods (810) (688)

1 1
1,410 (941)

1 1
4,933 11,602

1 1
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statements as follows:

Profit before taxation 35,067 41,523
1 1

Tax at the UK Corporation tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%) 10,520 12,457

Effects of:
Tax effect of share of result of associate (582) (240)
(Income not taxable)/expenses not deductible for tax purposes (1,331) 331
Movements on deferred tax assets not previously recognised (608) (721)
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings (210) (162)
Marginal relief (8) (8)

1 1
7,781 11,657

Adjustments in respect of prior periods – current tax (2,038) 633
Adjustments in respect of prior periods – deferred tax (810) (688)

1 1
4,933 11,602

1 1
The tax charge in future periods may be affected by the following factors:

The group will continue to benefit from lower rates of company taxation in relation to its Hong Kong subsidiary.

The group will continue to benefit from tax deductions in respect of goodwill amortisation within certain subsidiaries.

2006 2005
£000 £000

10 Profit for the year
Stated after charging/(crediting):
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 283,527 260,841
Net foreign exchange losses 247 197
Amounts arising on derivatives trading not in a designated hedge accounting relationship (1,007) 283
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned 5,787 5,803
– held under finance leases and hire purchase agreements 1,123 1,125
Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,049 647
Amortisation of intangible assets 930 661
Increase/(decrease) in provision for inventories 1,232 (374)
Staff costs (note 11) 57,187 60,752
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services (see below) 290 270

1 1
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10 Profit for the year – continued

Amounts payable to Deloitte & Touche LLP and their associates by the company and its UK subsidiary undertakings
in respect of non-audit services were £587,000 (2005: £400,000). This principally comprised fees of £122,000
(2005: £149,000) for VAT consultancy, fees of £147,000 (2005: £155,000) for tax related services, fees of
£200,000 (2005: £nil) for corporate finance related services and £65,000 (2005: £nil) relating to the group’s
transition to IFRS.

Included in the above are fees of £7,000 (2005: £7,000) for the audit of the group’s pension schemes.

A description of the work of the audit committee is set out in the Audit Committee report on page 15 and includes
an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by
the auditors.

2006 2005
No. No.

11 Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:
Administration 1,836 1,771
Production 23 22
Selling/distribution 1,402 1,406

1 1
3,261 3,199

1 1
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 48,980 53,842
Social security costs 5,829 4,436
Other pension costs 2,378 2,474

1 1
57,187 60,752
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

12 Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2005 of 12.90p per share
(2004: 11.40p per share) 10,949 9,576
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (194) (171)

1 1
10,755 9,405

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 of 3.80p per share
(2005: 3.50p per share) 3,226 2,965
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (57) (53)

1 1
3,169 2,912

1 1
13,924 12,317
1 1

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 of 14.20p per share
(2005: 12.90p per share) 12,055 10,949
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (213) (194)

1 1
11,842 10,755
1 1

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and has not been
included as a liability in these financial statements.
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2006 2005
£000 £000

13 Earnings per share
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the purpose of basic
and diluted earnings per share 29,660 29,339
Amortisation of intangible assets 930 661
Restructuring costs (net of tax) 11,499 2,357
Profit on sale of land held for resale (2,878) —

1 1
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the purpose of
benchmark earnings per share 39,211 32,357

1 1
No. No.

Weighted average number of shares in issue 83,359,631 82,857,757
Dilutive share options 1,168,407 1,190,022

11
Adjusted weighted average number of shares 84,528,038 84,047,779

11
Earnings per share – basic 35.58p 35.41p

1 1
Earnings per share – benchmark 47.04p 39.05p

1 1
Earnings per share – diluted 35.09p 34.91p

1 1
Dilutive share options represent the calculated dilutive effect of share options outstanding at the balance sheet
date in accordance with the reporting requirements of IAS 33.

Benchmark earnings per share excludes the impact of amortisation of intangible assets, restructuring costs (net of
tax) and profit on sale of land held for resale.

£000
14 Goodwill
Cost

At 1 April 2004 33,190
Adjustments to prior year goodwill 317
Additions 14,346

1
At 1 April 2005 47,853
Adjustments to prior year goodwill 574

1
At 31 March 2006 48,427

1
Impairment
Impairment loss at 1 April 2004 and 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 —

1
Carrying amount
Net book value at 31 March 2006 48,427

1
Net book value at 31 March 2005 47,853

1
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Education Division
Findel Education (several CGUs) 33,507 33,507
GLS (single CGU) 11,164 11,164
Nottingham Rehab (single CGU) 3,756 3,182

1 1
48,427 47,853
1 1
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14 Goodwill – continued

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the
value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates and expected changes to revenues and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks in relation to the CGUs. Changes in revenues and direct costs
are based on past results and expectations of future changes in the market.

The group prepares cash flow forecasts for the next two years derived from the most recent budget information.
Cash flows are extrapolated thereafter based on an estimated growth rate of 3%. This rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 8%.

Customer
Brand names relationships Total

£000 £000 £000
15 Other intangible assets
Cost

At 1 April 2004 11,845 10,502 22,347
Acquisitions 7,161 8,104 15,265

1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 19,006 18,606 37,612
Acquisitions — — —

1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 19,006 18,606 37,612

1 1 1
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2004 — 1,336 1,336
Provision for year — 661 661

1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 — 1,997 1,997
Provision for year — 930 930

1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 — 2,927 2,927

1 1 1
Carrying amount
Net book value at 31 March 2006 19,006 15,679 34,685

1 1 1
Net book value at 31 March 2005 19,006 16,609 35,615

1 1 1
Brand names, which arise from the acquisition of businesses, are deemed to have an indefinite life and are subject to
annual impairment tests.

The amortisation period for customer relationships, which arise from the acquisition of businesses, is twenty years.

Brand names acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs)
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amount of brand names had been allocated as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Education Division
Findel Education (several CGUs) 11,845 11,845
GLS (single CGU) 7,161 7,161
Nottingham Rehab (single CGU) — —

1 1
19,006 19,006
1 1

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the brand names might be
impaired.
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Land and buildings Fixtures and
Freehold Leasehold equipment Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
16 Property, plant and equipment
Cost
At 1 April 2004 28,214 1,936 70,119 100,269
Additions 146 200 8,639 8,985
Acquisitions — — 2,203 2,203
Disposals — — (21,624) (21,624)
Exchange differences — — (5) (5)

1 1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 28,360 2,136 59,332 89,828
Additions 36 365 15,959 16,360
Disposals (2,721) (145) (2,311) (5,177)
Exchange differences — — 16 16

1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 25,675 2,356 72,996 101,027

1 1 1 1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2004 4,594 218 40,638 45,450
Provision for year 472 53 6,403 6,928
Disposals — — (19,694) (19,694)
Exchange differences — — (3) (3)

1 1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 5,066 271 27,344 32,681
Provision for year 483 122 6,305 6,910
Disposals (105) (22) (1,401) (1,528)
Exchange differences — — 10 10

1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 5,444 371 32,258 38,073

1 1 1 1
Carrying amount
Net book value at 31 March 2006 20,231 1,985 40,738 62,954

1 1 1 1
Net book value at 31 March 2005 23,294 1,865 31,988 57,147

1 1 1 1
The following rates are used for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Buildings 2%
Fixtures and equipment 5%-33%

The net book value of plant, equipment and motor vehicles held under finance leases at 31 March 2006 was £2.9m
(2005: £3.9m).

17 Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 2006 were as follows:

Registered in England and Wales
Express Gifts Limited Home Shopping

Findel Education Limited Educational Supplies

Home Farm Hampers Limited (60%) Christmas Hampers

James Galt & Co. Limited Educational Toys

Nottingham Rehab Limited Healthcare

Registered and incorporated overseas
Fine Art Developments (Far East) Limited Procurement Services

All subsidiary undertakings are wholly owned except where indicated and operate mainly in the country in which they
are registered.

48

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



2006 2005
£000 £000

18 Investments in associates
Cost of equity investment in associates 7,187 7,187
Value of non-equity investments in associates 7,424 5,836
Share of post acquisition profit, net of dividend received (4,287) (4,640)

1 1
10,324 8,383
1 1

Details of the group’s associates at 31 March 2006 are as follows:

Name of associate Proportion of voting power held Principal activity

Confetti Networks Limited (CNL) 35% Sale of wedding stationery and gifts
Webb Group Limited (Webb Group) 30% Provision of charity services and

card production

Both CNL and Webb Group are registered in England and Wales.

The financial statements of CNL are made up to 31 December each year. This was the financial reporting date when
the company was first incorporated. For the purpose of applying the equity accounting method, CNL has prepared
additional unaudited financial statements as at 31 March 2006.

In addition to the above the group also holds £2.34m of non-voting preference shares in CNL and warrants to
subscribe to 53,853,792 ordinary shares at par value of 0.01p each, expiring on 31 December 2006.

The group also holds £5.9m of non-voting preference shares in Webb Group.

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Total assets 37,211 45,736
Total liabilities (20,652) (26,748)

1 1
Net assets 16,559 18,988

1 1
Group’s share of associates’ net assets 10,324 8,383

1 1
Revenue 32,845 38,362
Profit for the period 1,179 808

1 1
Group’s share of associates’ profit for the period 353 304

1 1
2006 2005
£000 £000

19 Inventories
Raw materials 155 512
Work in progress 33 —
Finished goods 100,880 102,700

1 1
101,068 103,212
1 1
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2006 2005
£000 £000

20 Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts receivable from the sale of goods 203,183 178,576
Other debtors and prepayments 29,323 20,786

1 1
232,506 199,362
1 1

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods of £63.5m (2005:
£51.6m). This allowance has been determined by reference to past default experience.

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Bank balances and cash
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Credit Risk
The group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash and trade and other receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet
are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss
event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.

The group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers.

2006 2005
£000 £000

21 Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand 2,284 4,147

1 1
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of
the cash flow statement:
Cash at bank and in hand as above 2,284 4,147
Bank overdrafts (9,082) (18,169)

1 1
(6,798) (14,022)
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

22 Trade and other payables
Trade creditors and accruals 76,827 81,375

1 1
Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.
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Present value of
Minimum lease Minimum lease

payments payments
2006 2005 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000

23 Obligations under finance leases
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year 612 497 518 421
In the second to fifth years 1,154 1,311 977 1,110
In more than five years 11 — 9 —

1 1 1 1
1,777 1,808 1,504 1,531

Less future finance charges (273) (277) — —
1 1 1 1

Present value of lease obligations 1,504 1,531 1,504 1,531
1 1

Less amounts due for settlement within 12 months (518) (421)
1 1

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 986 1,110
1 1

It is the group’s policy to lease certain of its fixtures and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is
6 years.

For the year ended 31 March 2006, the average borrowing rate was 18.1% (2005: 18.1%).

Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. The fair
value approximates their carrying value.

The group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

2006 2005
£000 £000

24 Bank overdrafts and loans
Bank overdrafts 9,082 18,169
Bank loans 254,172 214,389

1 1
263,254 232,558
1 1

The maturity profile of financial liabilities is as follows:
Within one year or on demand 19,082 102,558
In the second year — —
In the third year 160,000 —
In the fourth year — 130,000
In the fifth year 84,172 —
In more than five years — —

1 1
263,254 232,558

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (19,082) (102,558)
1 1

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 244,172 130,000
1 1

The currency profile of the group’s borrowings is as follows:
Sterling 263,254 232,555
Hong Kong dollars — 3

1 1
263,254 232,558
1 1

The average interest rates paid were as follows:
Bank overdrafts 5.58% 5.60%

1 1
Bank loans 5.52% 5.50%

1 1
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24 Bank overdrafts and loans – continued

All borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group
manages this risk by undertaking appropriate interest rate hedging as described in note 25.

The directors consider that the carrying value of bank loans and overdrafts approximates their fair value.

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand and are unsecured. The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts
approximated to 5.58% (2005: 5.60%) in the year and is based on rates variable with LIBOR and US dollar and Hong
Kong dollar bank overdrafts that bear interest at rates based on the US prime rate.

The group has two principal bank loans:

(i) An unsecured, committed revolving credit facility of £160m dated 24 March 2004 which expires on 24 March
2009. Amounts drawn under the facility carry interest at 1.15% over LIBOR.

(ii) A securitisation facility of up to £105m, dated 23 March 2006 which expires on 23 March 2011, the amount of
the available facility being dependent upon the level of certain debtor balances within Express Gifts Limited.
Amounts drawn under the facility carry interest at rates variable with the discount rate for Commercial Paper.

The facility replaced the previous securitisation arrangement which ended in March 2006.

2006 2005
£000 £000

Borrowing facilities

The group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities as follows:
Expiring in one year or less 63,418 52,756
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years — —
Expiring in more than two years 20,828 30,000

1 1
84,246 82,756
1 1

2006 2005
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000
25 Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange contracts 254 — — (711)
Interest rate derivatives — (24) 43 (109)

1 1 1 1
254 (24) 43 (820)

1 1 1 1
Analysed as:
Current 254 (24) 43 (820)
Non-current — — — —

1 1 1 1
254 (24) 43 (820)

1 1 1 1
Currency derivatives
The group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The group is party
to a number of forward currency contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The instruments
purchased are primarily denominated in US dollars.

At the balance sheet date, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which
the group is committed was £5.0m (2005: £13.8m).

At 31 March 2006 the fair value of the group’s currency derivatives is £0.3m (2005: liability of £0.7m). These
amounts are based on quoted forward currency rates at the balance sheet date.

Amounts of £101,000 (2005: charge of £35,000) have been credited to the income statement in respect of
contracts matured during the period. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to
£965,000 have been credited to income in the year (2005: charge of £280,000).
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25 Derivative financial instruments – continued

Interest rate derivatives
The group uses interest rate derivatives to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank
borrowings by the use of interest rate Collar arrangements. Contracts with a nominal value of £25m have a Cap of
5% and a Floor of 3% for the period to 21 September 2006. As part of this arrangement, on 21 September 2006
the group’s bankers may require the group to enter into a fixed rate arrangement over a nominal value of £35m at a
rate of 41⁄2% for the period from 21 September 2006 to 21 September 2008. Should the group’s bankers elect not
to exercise this right on 21 September 2006, they cannot do so at a later date.

At 31 March 2006 the fair value of the group’s interest rate derivatives is estimated to be an approximate liability
of £0.02m (2005: £0.06m). These amounts are based on quoted market prices for equivalent instruments at the
balance sheet date.

Changes in the fair value of non-hedging interest rate derivatives amounting to £42,000 have been credited to
income in the year (2005: charge of £3,000).

Due to the nature of many of the group’s hedging and derivative instruments, hedge accounting has not been
adopted for these hedging relationships. Consequently, movements in the fair value of derivative instruments have
been recognised in the income statement.

26 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and movements thereon during
the current and prior reporting period:

Short term Accelerated Retirement Other
timing capital benefit intangible

differences allowances obligations assets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2004 (2,414) 4,354 (6,225) 6,303 2,018
Balances acquired in period (43) — — 4,580 4,537
Credit to profit or loss for the year (788) (236) 281 (198) (941)

1 1 1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 (3,245) 4,118 (5,944) 10,685 5,614
Charge to profit or loss for the year 1,158 (6) 537 (279) 1,410

1 1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 (2,087) 4,112 (5,407) 10,406 7,024

1 1 1 1 1
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the group’s accounting policy.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for balance sheet purposes:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities 15,319 18,214
Deferred tax assets (8,295) (12,600)

1 1
7,024 5,614

1 1
At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £1,122,000 (2005: £893,000). No
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the group is in a position to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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27 Share-based payments
Equity settled share option schemes

2006 2006 2005 2005
No. of share Weighted No. of share Weighted

options average options average
exercise exercise

price (in £) price (in £)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 670,804 2.69 1,042,311 1.90
Granted during the year — — 294,524 3.61
Exercised during the year (231,305) 2.14 (666,031) 1.86

1 1 1 1
Outstanding at the end of the year 439,499 2.97 670,804 2.69

1 1 1 1
Exercisable at the end of the year 144,975 376,280

1 1
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was
460 pence. The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of
3.72 years (2005: 3.20 years). No options were granted in the current year. In the prior year options were granted
on 21 May 2004. The estimated fair values of the options at this date was £90,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

Weighted average share price (pence) 360.75
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 360.75
Expected volatility 41.43
Expected life (years) 3
Risk free rate (%) 4.00
Expected dividend yield (%) 4.02

The group recognised total expenses of £0.03m (2005: £0.03m) related to equity settled share-based payment
transactions in the year.

Other share-based payment plan
The group issued to certain senior employees share appreciation rights (SARs) under a Long Term Investment Plan
(LTIP) that require the group to pay the intrinsic value of the SAR to the employee at the date of exercise. As
described in Note 29, the group holds 1,500,000 ordinary shares within an Employee Benefit Trust as a hedge
against the group’s liabilities under the LTIP.

2006 2005
£000 £000

28 Share capital
Authorised
95 million ordinary shares of 5p each 4,750 4,750

1 1
Allotted, issued and fully paid
At the beginning of the year 4,233 4,200
Exercise of share options 12 33

1 1
At the end of the year 4,245 4,233

1 1
The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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Capital Share Liability for
redemption premium Merger Own share-based

reserve account reserve shares payments Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

29 Capital reserves
At 1 April 2004 403 21,723 29,518 (3,171) — 48,473
Share issues — 1,203 — — — 1,203
Credit to equity for share-based
payments — — — — 30 30

1 1 1 1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 403 22,926 29,518 (3,171) 30 49,706
Share issues — 483 — — — 483
Credit to equity for share-based
payments — — — — 30 30

1 1 1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 403 23,409 29,518 (3,171) 60 50,219

1 1 1 1 1 1
Own shares comprises 1,500,000 ordinary shares of 5p each of the company, representing 1.8% of the issued
share capital of the company at 31 March 2006. This was also the maximum number of such shares held during the
year. These shares, which are held in an Employee Benefit Trust established for the purpose, were purchased in
order to provide a hedge against the group’s liabilities under the Long Term Incentive Plan.

The liability for share-based payments represents the cumulative share option charge under IFRS 2 less the value of
any share options that have been exercised.

£000
30 Translation reserve
Balance at 1 April 2004 —
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (106)

1
Balance at 1 April 2005 (106)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 365

1
Balance at 31 March 2006 259

1
The translation reserve represents movements in the consolidated balance sheet which are taken directly to
reserves, arising as a result of movements in exchange rates.

£000
31 Retained earnings
At 1 April 2004 34,555
Dividends paid (12,317)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 29,339

1
At 1 April 2005 51,577
Dividends paid (13,924)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 29,660

1
At 31 March 2006 67,313

1

32 Non cash transactions
Additions to fixtures and equipment during the year amounting to £nil (2005: £nil) were financed by new
finance leases.

33 Capital commitments
The group had no capital commitments at 31 March 2006 or 31 March 2005.
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2006 2005
£000 £000

34 Operating lease arrangements

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense in the year 7,863 8,393
1 1

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which
fall due as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Within one year 447 1,213
In the second to fifth years 5,604 2,141
After five years 5,130 5,966

1 1
11,181 9,320
1 1

Operating lease payments predominantly represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office and
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 5 years and rentals are fixed for an average of
3 years.

35 Retirement benefit plans
Defined contribution schemes
The group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for all qualifying employees.The assets of the plan
are held separately from those of the group in funds under the control of trustees. The only obligation of the group
with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions. The total expense recognised in
the income statement of £817,000 (2005: £806,000) represents contributions payable at rates specified by the
rules of the plan.

Defined benefit schemes
The principal UK scheme (the “Findel Group Pension Scheme”) was assessed by Aon Consulting, the scheme’s
actuaries, at 6 April 2004 using the projected unit method. The principal actuarial assumptions adopted in that
valuation were that the annual rate of return on investments would be between 0.25% and 1.50% higher than the
annual increase in total pensionable remuneration and between 2.25% and 3.50% higher than the annual increase
in present and future pensions in payment. The actuarial value of the assets was sufficient to cover 83% of the
benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable remuneration.
The market value of the scheme’s assets at the date of valuation was £44.8m. The next valuation is due in April 2007.

A further two UK defined benefit schemes (the “Novara Defined Benefit Schemes”) were acquired with the
acquisition of Novara plc. These schemes were assessed by Aon Consulting, the schemes’ actuaries, at 6 April
2004. The principal of these schemes, accounting for 84% of the combined assets and 85% of the combined
liabilities of the schemes, was assessed using the Attained Age method. The principal actuarial assumptions
adopted in that valuation were that the annual rate of return on investments would be between 0.50% and 3%
higher than the annual increase in total pensionable remuneration and between 2% and 4.5% higher than the annual
increase in present and future pensions in payment. The actuarial value of the assets was sufficient to cover 71% of
the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable
remuneration. The market value of the scheme’s assets at the date of valuation was £11.4m. These schemes were
merged with effect from 1 April 2005. The next valuation is due in April 2007.

The most recent valuations of the plans for IAS 19 purposes were carried out at 31 March 2006 by AON
consulting. The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost and past service
cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the IAS 19 actuarial valuations were as follows:

2006 2005
% %

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.00 5.40
Expected return on scheme assets 6.40 6.40
Inflation 2.75 3.00
Rate of general increase in salaries 4.50 4.75
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 2.75 3.00
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 3.00 3.00
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35 Retirement benefit plans – continued

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of the defined benefit plans are as follows:

(i) included within administrative expenses 2006 2005
£000 £000

Current service cost 1,551 1,668
Past service cost 10 —

1 1
Total operating charge 1,561 1,668

1 1
(ii) included within financial costs
Expected return on pension assets (4,246) (3,811)
Interest cost 4,763 4,387

1 1
Net cost 517 576

1 1
The amount recognised in the balance sheet arising from the group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit
retirement benefit schemes is as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

Fair value of scheme assets 80,866 67,000
Present value of funded obligations (99,788) (91,622)

1 1
(18,922) (24,622)

Unrecognised actuarial losses 898 4,808
1 1

Net pension liability recognised in the balance sheet (18,024) (19,814)
1 1

The related deferred tax asset is disclosed in Note 26.

Movements in the pension deficit were as follows:
2006 2005
£000 £000

Opening deficit (24,622) (20,751)

Movement in year:
Current service cost (1,551) (1,668)
Past service cost (10) —
Interest cost (4,763) (4,387)
Expected return on pension assets 4,246 3,811
Actuarial gain/(loss) 3,910 (4,808)
Contributions 3,868 3,181

1 1
Closing deficit (18,922) (24,622)

1 1
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

At 1 April (91,622) (79,320)

Movement in year:
Current service cost (1,551) (1,668)
Interest cost (4,763) (4,387)
Contributions by the members (223) (267)
Actuarial loss (4,498) (7,698)
Benefits paid 2,879 1,718
Past service cost (10) —

1 1
At 31 March (99,788) (91,622)

1 1
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35 Retirement benefit plans – continued

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

At 1 April 67,000 58,569
Movement in year:
Contributions 3,868 3,181
Contributions by the members 223 267
Expected return on pension assets 4,246 3,811
Actuarial gain 8,408 2,890
Benefits paid (2,879) (1,718)

1 1
At 31 March 80,866 67,000

1 1
The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Expected return Fair value of assets
2006 2005 2006 2005

% % £000 £000

Equities/Property 8.00 7.50 45,618 37,309
Bonds 4.50 5.00 32,922 26,588
Other 4.50 4.50 2,326 3,103

1 1
80,866 67,000
1 1

The history of experience adjustments is as follows:

2006 2005 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 80,866 67,000 58,569 49,631
Fair value of defined benefit obligation (99,788) (91,622) (79,320) (72,676)

1 1 1 1
Deficit in the scheme (18,922) (24,622) (20,751) (23,045)

1 1 1 1
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities

Amount (£000) (4,498) (7,521) 81 2,148
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) (5%) (9%) 0% 3%

Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (£000) 8,395 2,892 6,959 (16,061)
Percentage of scheme assets (%) 11% 5% 12% (32%)

In accordance with the transitional provisions for the amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ in December
2004, the disclosures are determined prospectively from the 2005 reporting period. Information is available for
both 2004 and 2003 and is presented above. Consequently, four years of experience adjustments are presented.

The group contributed 15% of employees pensionable earnings into the defined benefit pension schemes during the
year and anticipates continuing to do so in the year ending 31 March 2007. The group expects to contribute
approximately £3.9m to its defined benefit plans in the year ending 31 March 2007.
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36 Related party transactions
Trading transactions
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not discussed in this note.

During the year to 31 March 2006, group purchases from its associates on normal commercial terms amounted to
£0.78m (2005: £1.01m) and in the same period the group supplied goods and services to its associates of £7.51m
(2005: £10.12m). At 31 March 2006 the group indebtedness to its associates was £0.23m (2005: £0.18m) and
that of its associates to the group was £5.01m (2005: £3.66m).

The group has a trading relationship with Herbert Walker & Son (Printers) Limited, a commercial printing company
which is controlled by Mr K Chapman, a director. During the year to 31 March 2006 group purchases from Herbert
Walker on normal commercial terms amounted to £0.79m (2005: £1.13m) and in the same period the group
supplied goods and services to Herbert Walker of £0.14m (2005: £0.11m). At 31 March 2006 the group
indebtedness to Herbert Walker was £0.18m (2005: £0.1m) and that of Herbert Walker to the group was £0.04m
(2005: £0.04m).

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management of the group, is set out in the audited part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 23 to 26.

37 Reconciliation of IFRS comparatives from previously published UK GAAP financial
information

In the year ended 31 March 2005, the group prepared its consolidated financial statements under UK generally
accepted accounting principles (UK GAAP). With effect from 1 April 2005, the group is required to prepare its
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The comparative figures included in these financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2005 are restated
for IFRS. Full details of the restatement and reconciliations of the UK GAAP financial information for the year ended
31 March 2005 were announced in the group’s “IFRS Transition Document” on 1 December 2005, which can be
obtained from the group’s website, www.findel.co.uk. This provides comprehensive analysis of the effect of moving
from UK GAAP to IFRS and specifically contains:

● the restatement of 31 March 2005 comparative financial information from UK GAAP to IFRS, including a
reconciliation of equity from UK GAAP to IFRS at the date of transition and 31 March 2005;

● a summary of the significant accounting policies and a description of all IFRS adjustments made; and

● an unqualified independent auditors’ report on the IFRS Transition Document.

A number of summary disclosures are provided in this Note.

Reconciliation of equity at 1 April 2004 (date of transition) and 31 March 2005
31 March 1 April

2005 2004
£000 £000

Total equity under UK GAAP 120,830 104,693
Reduction in goodwill (17,365) (9,583)
Recognition of acquired intangible assets 36,276 21,011
Amortisation of intangible assets (661) —
Associates (6,838) (7,637)
Income recognition (378) (550)
Home Shopping debtor book (8,292) (5,518)
Post employment benefits (27,641) (27,472)
Financial instruments (777) (494)
Holiday pay (443) (373)
Dividends 11,310 10,110
Share-based payments (582) (331)
Taxation 632 4,157

1 1
Total equity under IFRS 106,071 88,013

1 1
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37 Reconciliation of IFRS comparatives from previously published UK GAAP financial
information – continued

Reconciliation of profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2005
£000

Profit after tax for the year under UK GAAP 29,204
Amortisation of goodwill 2,903
Amortisation of intangible assets (661)
Associates 799
Income recognition 173
Home Shopping debtor book (2,774)
Post employment benefits (169)
Financial instruments (283)
Holiday pay (70)
Share-based payments (281)
Retranslation of foreign subsidiaries 31
Taxation 1,049

1
Profit after tax for the year under IFRS 29,921

1
Under IAS 7 “Cash flow statements”, movements on cash and cash equivalents are reconciled, where as under UK
GAAP that statement reconciles cash only. The change in presentation of the Consolidated cash flow statement
under IAS 7 makes no difference to the cash flows of the group.

Description of IFRS adjustments

Goodwill/Acquired intangible assets
Under UK GAAP, goodwill was amortised over its expected useful economic life, which was normally 20 years. Under
IFRS 3 “Business combinations”, goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life and hence is not subject to
amortisation. Instead it is reviewed for impairment annually. IFRS also requires that, on acquisition, specific intangible
assets are identified and recognised and then amortised over their useful economic lives.

Associates
Under UK GAAP, the group’s investments in Confetti Network Limited and The Webb Group Limited were accounted
for as trade investments as the group did not exercise a significant influence over the operating policies of the
businesses. Under IFRS, the group will account for these investments as associates using the equity method, as
IFRS requires an investment to be classified as an associate where the investor has the potential to exercise
significant influence, irrespective of whether this influence is actually being exercised.

Income recognition
The adoption of IAS 18 “Revenue” has resulted in a small number of changes to the reported UK GAAP figures,
primarily in relation to the recognition of carriage costs recovered from customers in turnover.

Home Shopping debtor book
Under UK GAAP the group’s debtor book in its Home Shopping division was stated at invoiced cost less a provision for
doubtful debts. Under IAS 39 “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”, the debtor book is stated at
amortised cost less a provision for impairment.

Post employment benefits
Under UK GAAP, the group accounted for retirement benefits under SSAP 24 “Accounting for pension costs”. This
standard sought to spread the cost of providing defined benefit pension and post retirement benefits over the
estimated average remaining service life of the scheme members based upon a triennial valuation.

Under IFRS, the group is required to calculate the pension cost for defined benefit pension schemes and other post
employment benefits using a Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each
balance sheet date.

Financial instruments
Under UK GAAP, unrealised gains and losses on all of the group’s hedging arrangements were deferred until the
underlying transaction, for which they provided a hedge, was completed. Under IFRS, movements in the fair value of
derivative instruments are recognised in the income statement within financing costs.

Holiday pay
IFRS requires the group to accrue for holidays earned by its employees but not taken by the balance sheet date.
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37 Reconciliation of IFRS comparatives from previously published UK GAAP financial
information – continued

Dividends
Under UK GAAP, the group recognised a liability for dividends that were proposed in respect of a prior accounting
period, even if the formal authorisation of the dividend did not take place until after the year end. In accordance with
IAS 10 “Events after the Balance Sheet date”, dividends declared after the balance sheet date are not recognised as
a liability in the financial statements, as there is no present obligation at the balance sheet date.

Share-based payments
IFRS 2 “Share-based payments” requires the group to record a charge for all share-based payments equivalent to
the fair value of the award as at the date of the grant. An expense is recognised to spread the fair value of each
award over its vesting period on a straight-line basis, after allowing for an estimate of the share awards that will
eventually vest. As permitted by the standard, the group has applied IFRS 2 to all unvested share awards as at the
transition date.

Taxation
Under UK GAAP, the group recognised deferred tax on timing differences that arose from the inclusion of gains and
losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they were recognised in the financial statements
(an income statement approach). Under IAS 12 “Deferred tax”, deferred tax is recognised in respect of nearly all
taxable temporary timing differences arising between the tax base and the accounting book value of balance sheet
items (a balance sheet approach). This results in deferred tax being recognised on certain timing differences that
would not have given rise to deferred tax under UK GAAP.

Retranslation of foreign subsidiaries
Under UK GAAP, the profit and loss accounts and balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries were translated into sterling
at the appropriate closing rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. With IFRS, the income statement of foreign
subsidiaries is translated at the average rate for the period, with exchange differences taken to a separate
translation reserve.
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To the members of Findel plc
We have audited the individual company financial statements of Findel plc for the year ended 31 March 2006 which
comprise the balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 19. These individual company financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

The corporate governance statement and the directors’ remuneration report are included in the group annual
report of Findel plc for the year ended 31 March 2006. We have reported separately on the group financial
statements of Findel plc for the year ended 31 March 2006 and on the information in the directors’ remuneration
report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies
Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the individual company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the individual company financial statements in accordance with relevant United
Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the individual company financial statements give a true and fair view in
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and whether the individual company financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We report to you whether, in our opinion,
the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the individual company financial statements. We
also report to you if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and
other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the directors’ report and the other information contained in the annual report for the above year as
described in the contents section and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the individual company financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the individual company financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the individual company financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the individual company
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the individual
company financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

● the individual company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2006;

● the individual company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985; and

● the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
25 May 2006
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year ended 31 March 2006
Notes 2006 2005

£000 £000
(Restated)

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 6 14,867 15,089

Investments 7 136,697 136,697
1 1
151,564 151,786
1 1

Current assets

Debtors 8 196,966 194,595

Cash at bank and in hand 35,073 8,652
1 1
232,039 203,247

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 9 (118,266) (114,202)
1 1

Net current assets 113,773 89,045
1 1

Total assets less current liabilities 265,337 240,831

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 10 (160,111) (130,000)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 11 (3,238) (3,181)
1 1

Net assets 101,988 107,650
1 1

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital 14 4,245 4,233

Capital redemption reserve 15 403 403

Share premium account 15 23,409 22,926

Revaluation reserve 15 29,518 29,518

Own shares 15 (3,171) (3,171)

Liability for share-based payments 15 60 30

Profit and loss account 15 47,524 53,711
1 1

Equity shareholders’ funds 16 101,988 107,650
1 1

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 25 May 2006

K Chapman
Directors

D B Dutton }
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1 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting
The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain fixed asset
investments, and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law.

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year
and the preceding year with the exception of the adoption of FRS 17 (“Retirement benefits”), FRS 20 (“Share-based
payments”), FRS 21 (“Events after the balance sheet date”), FRS 23 (“The effects of changes in foreign exchange
rates”), FRS 25 (“Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation”) and FRS 26 (“Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement”), the impact of which is disclosed in note 5.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated to write off all tangible fixed assets on a straight line basis, except for land, over their
estimated useful lives using the following rates:

Freehold buildings: 2%, Plant and equipment: 5% – 33%, Long leasehold buildings: 2%, Motor vehicles: 25%, Short
leasehold buildings: Period of the lease.

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at valuation, less provision for impairment where appropriate. For those
investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration including the issue of shares qualifying for merger relief, cost
is measured by reference to the nominal value only of the shares issued. The investment is then revalued to reflect
the fair value of the consideration, the gain being taken to the revaluation reserve. Investments are revalued every
year to a directors’ valuation, with the surplus or deficit on book value being transferred to the revaluation reserve,
except that a deficit in excess of any previously recognised surplus relating to the same investment is charged to
the profit and loss account.

Financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The
company uses derivative financial instruments (primarily forward foreign currency contracts) to hedge its risks
associated with foreign currency transactions. The significant interest rate risk arises from bank loans. The
company converts a proportion of its floating rate debt to fixed rates.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair
value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future
cash flows are recognised directly in reserves and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and
loss account.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised
in the profit and loss account as they arise.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered). Deferred tax is
measured on a non-discounted basis, at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the
timing differences are expected to reverse.

Both current and deferred tax are measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on a non-discounted basis in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the
future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. A net deferred tax asset is
regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded
as more likely that not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of underlying timing
differences can be deducted.
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1 Significant accounting policies – continued

Share-based payments
The company operates a number of equity-settled, share based compensation plans.

The fair value of the employee services received under such schemes is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss
account. Fair value is determined by use of the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model. The amount to be expensed over
the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of share incentives, excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of share
incentives that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the group revises its estimates of the number of
share incentives that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised in the
profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment to equity, over the remaining vesting period.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to Findel Plc shareholders are recognised in the financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved.

Leases

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction
of the charge over the periods benefiting from the incentives.

Retirement benefit costs
During the year, the company has adopted FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”. For defined benefit schemes, the pension
scheme assets are measured using fair values whilst the pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected
unit method and discounted using an appropriate discount rate. The Findel Group Pension Scheme is a defined
benefit scheme. However, the company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the
scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and, consequently, has taken the exemption afforded by FRS 17 to
treat the pension scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

For defined contribution schemes, the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and
other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in
the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Cash flow statement
The company has taken advantage of the exemption from the requirement of FRS 1 (“Cash flow statements”) to
present a cash flow statement, as it produces consolidated financial statements which are available to the public.

2 Profit for the year
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the company has elected not to present its own profit
and loss account for the year. The company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 of
£7,737,000 (2005: £6,067,000 as restated).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the company was £75,000 (2005: £73,000).

3 Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

2006 2005
No. No.

Administration 18 20
1 1

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2006 2005
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 2,604 2,898
Social security costs 488 365
Other pension costs 2,350 2,164

1 1
5,442 5,427

1 1
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2006 2005
£000 £000

4 Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to shareholders in the period:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2005 of 12.90p per share
(2004: 11.40p per share) 10,949 9,576
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (194) (171)

1 1
10,755 9,405

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 of 3.80p per share
(2005: 3.50p per share) 3,226 2,965
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (57) (53)

1 1
3,169 2,912

1 1
13,924 12,317
1 1

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 of
14.20p per share (2005: 12.90p per share) 12,055 10,922
Less: attributable to own shares held in Employee Benefit Trust (213) (194)

1 1
11,842 10,728
1 1

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and has not been
included as a liability in these financial statements.

5 Prior year adjustment
During the year, the company adopted FRS 17 (“Retirement benefits”), FRS 20 (“Share-based payments”), FRS 21
(“Events after the balance sheet date”), FRS 23 (“The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates”), FRS 25
(“Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation”) and FRS 26 (“Financial instruments: recognition and
measurement”). The comparative figures in the primary statements and notes have been restated to reflect the
new policies.

The effects of the change in policy are summarised below:
2006 2005
£000 £000

Profit and loss account
Administrative expenses (103) (1,663)
Investment income 1,880 186
Taxation (535) 303
Dividends paid and proposed 1,114 1,323

1 1
Increase in profit for the financial year 2,356 149

1 1
Balance sheet
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings — (873)
Derivative asset 254 43
Other debtors (8,352) (8,352)
Derivative liability (24) (820)
Accruals and deferred income (685) (582)
Proposed dividend 11,842 10,728
Deferred taxation 2,506 3,041

1 1
Increase in net assets 5,541 3,185

1 1
In addition, the prior year adjustment increased equity shareholders’ funds at 1 April 2004 by £3,006,000.
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Land and buildings Fixtures and
Freehold Leasehold equipment Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
6 Tangible fixed assets
Cost
At 1 April 2005 18,429 343 2,338 21,110
Additions — — 516 516
Disposals (259) — (665) (924)
Group transfers — — 1,263 1,263

1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 18,170 343 3,452 21,965

1 1 1 1
Depreciation
At 1 April 2005 4,609 115 1,297 6,021
Charge for the year 328 14 739 1,081
Disposals — — (616) (616)
Group transfers — — 612 612

1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 4,937 129 2,032 7,098

1 1 1 1
Carrying amount
Net book value at 31 March 2006 13,233 214 1,420 14,867

1 1 1 1
Net book value at 31 March 2005 13,820 228 1,041 15,089

1 1 1 1
The net book value of fixtures and equipment includes £0.1m (2005: £nil) in respect of assets held under finance
leases.

Leasehold property includes short-term leases costing £0.34m (2005: £0.34m), which after depreciation have a
net book value of £0.21m (2005: £0.23m).

Freehold land and buildings includes land costing £0.8m (2005: £1.06m) on which no depreciation has been
charged.

Shares in Group
undertakings Investments Total

£000 £000 £000
7 Investments
Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 125,153 15,221 140,374

1 1 1
Provisions
At 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 3,677 — 3,677

1 1 1
Net book value at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2006 121,476 15,221 136,697

1 1 1
Investments at 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 comprises 30% of the issued share capital of Webb Group
Limited, plus 34.8% of the issued share capital and £2.34m nominal value of non-voting preference shares of
Confetti Network Limited (CNL). In addition, the company held warrants to subscribe to 53,853,792 ordinary
shares at par value of 0.1p each, expiring on 31 December 2006, in CNL. Both Webb Group and CNL are registered
in England and Wales.

Principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in Note 17 to the group financial statements.
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2006 2005
£000 £000

(Restated)
8 Debtors
Trade debtors 572 628
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 191,223 189,791
Derivative asset (note 12) 254 43
Other debtors 3,197 2,710
Prepayments and accrued income 1,720 1,423

1 1
196,966 194,595
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

(Restated)
9 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Bank loans and overdrafts 10,000 14,052
Obligations under finance leases 62 —
Trade creditors 988 655
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 104,862 96,498
Derivative liability (note 12) 24 820
Indirect tax and social security 244 371
Accruals and deferred income 2,086 1,806

1 1
118,266 114,202
1 1

2006 2005
£000 £000

10 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Bank loans 160,000 130,000
Obligations under finance leases 111 —

1 1
160,111 130,000
1 1

Bank loans are repayable in March 2009 and interest is charged at a rate variable with LIBOR.

Finance lease obligations fall due as follows:

Within one year 62 —
In the second to fifth years 111 —
In more than five years — —

1 1
173 —

1 1
£000

(Restated)
11 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred tax:
At 1 April 2005 3,181
Charge to profit and loss account 57

1
At 31 March 2006 3,238

1
The deferred tax liability is provided as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000

(Restated)

Accelerated capital allowances 2,982 3,010
Short term timing differences 256 171

1 1
3,238 3,181

1 1
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12 Derivative financial instruments
As the group’s derivative financial instruments are all held by the company, reference should be made to Note 25 to
the group financial statements for the required disclosures.

13 Share-based payments
As the group’s share incentives are all held by the company, reference should be made to Note 27 to the group
financial statements for the required disclosures.

2006 2005
Number of shares £000 £000

14 Called-up share capital
Authorised
Ordinary shares of 5p each 95,000,000 4,750 4,750

1 1 1
Allotted, issued and fully paid
At the beginning of the year 84,662,274 4,233 4,200
Exercise of share options 231,305 12 33

1 1 1
At the end of the year 84,893,579 4,245 4,233

1 1 1
The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. During the year, the company
allotted 231,305 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £11,565 for consideration of £494,993 in connection with
the company’s share option schemes.

Capital Share Liability for Profit
redemption premium Merger Own share-based and loss

reserve account reserve shares payments account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

15 Reserves
At 1 April 2005 as previously
stated 403 22,926 29,518 (3,171) — 50,556
Prior year adjustment — — — — 30 3,155

1 1 1 1 1 1
At 1 April 2005 as restated 403 22,926 29,518 (3,171) 30 53,711
Share issues — 483 — — — —
Credit to equity for share-based
payments — — — — 30 —
Profit for the financial year — — — — — 7,737
Dividends paid — — — — — (13,924)

1 1 1 1 1 1
At 31 March 2006 403 23,409 29,518 (3,171) 60 47,524

1 1 1 1 1 1
Own shares comprises 1,500,000 ordinary shares of 5p each of the company, representing 1.8% of the issued
share capital of the company at 31 March 2006. This was also the maximum number of such shares held during the
year. These shares, which are held in an Employee Benefit Trust established for the purpose, were purchased in
order to provide a hedge against the company’s liabilities under the Long Term Incentive Plan.

2006 2005
£000 £000

16 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
Profit for the financial year 7,737 6,067
New shares issued 495 1,236
Credit to equity for share-based payments 30 30
Dividends paid (13,924) (12,317)

1 1
Net reduction in equity shareholders’ funds (5,662) (4,984)

1 1
Opening equity shareholders’ funds as previously stated 104,465 109,628
Prior year adjustment (note 5) 3,185 3,006

1 1
Opening equity shareholders’ funds as restated 107,650 112,634

1 1
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 101,988 107,650

1 1
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17 Financial commitments
The company had no capital commitments at 31 March 2006 or 31 March 2005.

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and buildings Other assets
2006 2005 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000

Expiry date:
Within one year — — 113 107
In the second to fifth years — — 1,074 731
After five years 2,180 2,180 — —

1 1 1 1
2,180 2,180 1,187 838

1 1 1 1
Leases of land and buildings are typically subject to rent reviews at specified intervals and provide for the lessee to
pay all insurance, maintenance and repair costs.

18 Retirement benefit plans
The company’s employees participate in the Findel Group Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme with
the assets held in separate trustee administered funds.

As the company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent
and reasonable basis, it has taken advantage of the exemption afforded by FRS 17 (“Retirement benefits”) to treat
the pension scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

The disclosures required regarding the assets and liabilities of the scheme can be found in Note 35 to the group
financial statements.

19 Related party transactions
The company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 “Related party disclosures” not to disclose
transactions with other members of the group headed by the company.

The company has a trading relationship with Herbert Walker & Son (Printers) Limited, a commercial printing
company which is controlled by Mr K Chapman, a director. During the year to 31 March 2006 purchases from
Herbert Walker on normal commercial terms amounted to £0.01m (2005: £0.01m) and in the same period the
company supplied goods and services to Herbert Walker of £0.12m (2005: £0.10m). At 31 March 2006 the
company’s indebtedness to Herbert Walker was £nil (2005: £nil) and that of Herbert Walker to the company was
£0.02m (2005: £0.04m).
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Notice is hereby given that the fifty-first annual general meeting of the company will be held at The Craiglands
Hotel, Cowpasture Road, Ilkley, West Yorkshire, LS29 8RQ on Monday 3 July 2006at 2.00 p.m. for the following
purposes:

Ordinary business

1. To receive and adopt the statement of accounts of the company for the year ended 31 March 2006together
with the directors’ and auditors’ reports thereon.

2. To receive and adopt the board report on directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2006.

3. To approve a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006.

4. To re-elect Mr P E Jolly as a director.

5. To re-elect Mr G P Craig as a director.

6. To re-elect Mr J M F Padovan as a director.

7. To re-elect Mr D A Johnson as a director.

8. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors to the company for the period to the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

Special business

9. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

That the Findel Performance Share Plan 2006 (the “Plan”), the principal terms of which are summarised in
Appendix I and the rules of which are produced to the meeting and signed by the chairman for the
purposes of identification, is approved and the directors are authorised to:

(a) make such modifications to the Plan as they may consider appropriate to take account of the
requirements of the UK Listing Authority and best practice and to adopt the Plan as so modified and
to do all such other acts and things as they may consider necessary or expedient to implement the
Plan; and

(b) establish further plans for the benefit of employees outside of the UK, based on the Plan but modified
to take account of local tax, exchange control or securities law in overseas territories, provided that
any shares made available under such plans are treated as counting against the limits on individual
and overall participation contained in the Plan.

10. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

That pursuant to S.80 of the Companies Act 1985 the directors be and are hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the company to allot Relevant Securities (within the
meaning of S.80 of the said Act) in respect of and up to an aggregate nominal amount of £501,074
representing 11.79% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company at 25 May 2006until the earlier of
the date and time of the next annual general meeting or 15 months from the date of the passing of this
resolution; and so that the company may before that date and time make an offer or agreement which would
or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted after such time and the directors may allot Relevant
Securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

This resolution asks shareholders to renew the directors’ general authority to allot unissued shares,
should it be desirable to do so. In accordance with relevant guidelines this authority is to be limited to the
maximum nominal amount of £501,074 representing the company’s authorised but unissued share
capital as at 25 May 2006. The company holds no treasury shares within the meaning of S.162A of the
said Act as at 25 May 2006. The directors have no present plans to issue shares using this authority.

11. Subject to resolution 10 being passed, to consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as a special
resolution:

That, pursuant to S.95 of the Companies Act 1985 the directors be and are hereby authorised:

(i) subject to the passing of the previous resolution, to allot Equity Securities (within the meaning of
S.94 of the said Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the previous resolution; and

(ii) to sell Equity Securities (within the meaning of S.94 of the said Act) for cash which before the sale
were held by the company as treasury shares (within the meaning of S.162A of the said Act)
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as if sub-section (1) of S.89 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment PROVIDED that this power
shall be limited:

(a) to the allotment or sale of Equity Securities in connection with a rights issue in favour of ordinary
shareholders where the Equity Securities respectively attributable to the interests of all ordinary
shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares
held by them, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or any legal or practical problems under
the laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange, and/or

(b) to the allotment or sale (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of Equity Securities in
respect of and up to an aggregate nominal amount of £212,446 representing 5% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the company at 25 May 2006

and shall expire on the earlier of the date and time of the next annual general meeting or 15 months from the
date of the passing of this resolution; save that the company may before that date and time make an offer or
agreement which would or might require Equity Securities to be allotted or sold after such time and in such
event the directors may allot or sell Equity Securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the
authority conferred hereby had not expired.

If the directors wish to allot unissued shares or sell shares from treasury for cash, the Companies Act
1985 requires that these shares are offered first to shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings.
This is known as shareholders’ pre-emption rights. There may be occasions however when, in order to act in
the best interest of the company, the directors need the flexibility to finance business opportunities as they
arise. Therefore this resolution asks shareholders to renew the directors’ authority to issue or sell from
treasury a limited number of shares for cash, up to a nominal amount of £212,446 equivalent to 5% of the
company’s issued share capital at 25 May 2006, or pursuant to a rights issue, without the shares first
being offered to shareholders. Resolution 11 will be proposed as a special resolution. The authority
contained in Resolution 11, will expire on the earlier date of the next annual general meeting or 15 months
after passing of such resolution.

12. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as a special resolution:
That, in accordance with Regulation 52 of the Articles of Association, a general authority is hereby given for
the purposes of S.166 of the Companies Act 1985 for one or more market purchases (as defined in S.163 of
the said Act) by the company of any of its own shares subject to the following restrictions but otherwise
unconditionally:

1. The maximum aggregate number of shares to be so acquired shall not exceed 8,497,851 ordinary
shares of 5p each with a nominal value of £424,892 representing 10% of the issued ordinary share
capital of the company at 25 May 2006.

2. Shares may only be purchased at a price per share (exclusive of expenses) no higher than 5% above the
average of the middle market quotations of the ordinary shares in the capital of the company, as
derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official list, for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of purchase but the minimum price that may be paid for such shares shall be the
nominal value of 5p per share (exclusive of expenses).

3. Unless previously renewed, varied, or revoked, this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the company, but the company may before such expiry make contracts for
such purposes which would or might be executed wholly or partly after such expiry, and may make a
purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract or contracts.

Under the terms of the Companies Act 1985 and its Articles of Association, the company has power to
purchase its own shares provided that this power has first been sanctioned by shareholders. The directors
consider that in certain circumstances it may be beneficial for the company to purchase its own shares, for
example, to return surplus cash to shareholders and to enhance earnings per share and/or net assets per
share. This resolution asks shareholders to authorise the company to make purchases up to 8,497,851
ordinary shares (representing 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company as at 25 May 2006)
at a minimum price of 5p per share and a maximum price of 5% above the average price of the middle market
quotations of the ordinary shares in the capital of the company as derived from the London Stock Exchange
Daily Official List for the 5 business days prior to the purchase. The total number of shares that may be
issued on the exercise of outstanding options as at 25 May 2006 was 580,082 which represents
approximately 0.68% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) at that date. If the company
were to purchase shares up to the maximum permitted by this resolution, the proportion of shares
subject to outstanding options would represent approximately 0.76% of the resultant issued share
capital (excluding treasury shares).
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The purchase price for the company to purchase its own shares may only be satisfied out of distributable
reserves, or the proceeds of a new issue of shares made for the purpose. Purchases will be made on the London
Stock Exchange, and daily notification of any purchases will be made to a Regulatory Information Service. Full
details of purchases made during the year will also appear in the company’s annual report published in 2007.

The fact that the directors are seeking this authority should not be taken as an indication that the company will
purchase its own shares at any particular price or indeed at all and the directors would only consider making
purchases if they believed that such purchases would be in the best interests of the shareholders generally,
having regard to the effect on earnings per share. The directors have no immediate intention to exercise the
proposed authority to purchase shares. The Companies Act 1985 permits companies to hold any shares
acquired by way of market purchases in treasury rather than having to cancel them. The company would
consider holding any of its own shares purchased under the authority granted by Resolution 12 as treasury
shares (within the meaning of S.162A of the said Act). This would give the company the ability to re-issue
treasury shares as and when required quickly and cost effectively and would provide the company with
additional flexibility in the management of its capital base. No dividends will be paid on shares while held in
treasury and no voting rights will attach to those shares.

Resolution 12 will be proposed as a special resolution. The authority contained in Resolution 12 will expire at the
earlier of the conclusion of the next annual general meeting or 15 months after the passing of such resolution.

By order of the board
I J Bolton
Secretary
25 May 2006
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Notes

(a) A member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to
attend and, on a poll, to vote in his place. A proxy need not also be a member. Completion and return of a Form
of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting should he/she so decide.

(b) To be valid at the meeting, the enclosed Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other authority
(if any) under which it is signed, or notarially certified copy of such power or authority, must be deposited at
the offices of Lloyds TSR Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6ZL not less than
48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or any adjourned meeting.

(c) Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the company’s registered office during
normal business hours of any weekday (public holidays excluded):

(i) the directors’ service contracts;

(ii) the register of directors’ interested in the share capital of the company;

(iii) A copy of the draft rules of the Findel Performance Share Plan 2006.

Such documents will also be available for inspection at the place of the annual general meeting for at least
15 minutes prior to the meeting as well as during the meeting.

(d) Only those member registered in the Register of Members of the company 48 hours before the time
appointed for the holding of the meeting shall be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting.
CREST transactions after that time will not affect entitlements to attend and vote at the meeting and no
transfers of securities in certificated form will be registered from that time until the close of the meeting.

(e) Electronic proxy appointment through CREST

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment
service may do so for the annual general meeting to be held on 3 July 2006 and any adjournment(s)
thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other
CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s),
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate
action on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate
CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with
CRESTCo’s specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described
in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless or whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or
an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be
transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID 7RA01) by the latest time(s) for receipt of
proxy appointments specified in the notice of meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken
to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host)
from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner
prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST
should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note
that CRESTCo does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal
system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It
is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST
personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s) to procure that his
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a
message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in
particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system
and timings.

The company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation
35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.
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Summary of the principal features of the Findel Performance Share Plan 2006 (the “Plan”)

Operation
The Remuneration Committee of the board of directors of the company (the “committee”) will supervise the
operation of the Plan.

Eligibility
Any employee (including an executive director) of the company or any of its subsidiaries will be eligible to participate
in the Plan at the discretion of the committee.

Grant of awards
Awards granted under the Plan can take one of two forms either:

(i) conditional allocations, where a participant will receive shares in the company automatically on the vesting of his
award; or

(ii) nil (or nominal) cost options, where a participant can decide when to exercise his award and receive shares
during a limited period of time after it has vested.

Although it does not currently intend to do so, committee may decide that cash-based awards of an equivalent value
to share-based awards should be granted or that share-based awards should be satisfied in cash (whether in whole
or in part).

The Committee may decide that awards should be granted within the six week period following the approval of the
Plan by shareholders and thereafter within the six week period following the company’s announcement of its results
for any period. Awards may also be granted when exceptional circumstances exist that the committee considers
justify the granting of awards at that time. It is intended that initial awards in respect of the 2006 financial year will
be made shortly following shareholder approval of the Plan.

No awards may be granted more than 10 years after the approval of the Plan by shareholders.

Awards are not transferable, except on death. Awards are not pensionable.

Individual limit
An individual may not receive awards in any financial year over shares having a market value in excess of 150% of
their base salary, other than in exceptional circumstances (e.g. recruitment) where the limit is 200% of base salary.
It is currently intended that initial awards will be granted over shares with a market value no greater than 125% of
base salary.

Vesting of awards
Awards will normally vest following the third anniversary of grant once the committee has determined the extent to
which the applicable performance conditions (see below) have been satisfied and provided that the participant is still
employed in the group.

Performance conditions
All awards granted to executive directors will be subject to performance conditions set by the committee each year
that reflect the company’s performance over a single fixed period of at least three years (the “performance period”)
which would typically commence on the first day of the financial year in which the award is granted. Different
performance conditions may apply to awards granted to less senior executives.

The performance conditions for initial awards will be structured such that vesting of half of an award will be
determined by the company’s normalised earnings per share (“EPS”) growth in excess of inflation (“RPI”), over the
performance period.

EPS growth of the company over Vesting percentage of 50% of the shares
the performance period subject to an award

Less than RPI +12% 0%
RPI +12% 30%
RPI + 27% 100%

Between RPI +12% and RPI + 27% Between 30% and 100% pro-rata
on a straight-line basis

Vesting of the other half of the award will determined by the company’s performance in terms of its total
shareholder return (“TSR”), as measured against the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index as at the date
of grant but excluding investment trusts (the “comparator group”), over the performance period.
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TSR ranking of the company compared to the Vesting percentage of 50% of the shares
comparator group over the performance period subject to an award

Below median ranking 0%
Median ranking 30%

Upper quartile ranking 100%
Between median and upper quartile ranking Between 30% and 100% pro-rata

on a straight-line basis

Each company’s TSR will be averaged over a three month period immediately prior to both the beginning and the end
of the performance period.

The committee shall have discretion to scale back the vesting of awards below that indicated by the TSR condition
above if in its opinion the TSR performance of the company is not reflective of underlying financial performance.

The committee may amend the performance conditions applying to existing awards at any given time if an event
occurs which causes the committee to consider it appropriate to amend them (e.g. to take account of technical
changes such as changes in accounting standards), provided that, in the opinion of the committee, the amendment
is required and the performance conditions are not materially less challenging to achieve than those originally set.

The committee will review the performance conditions each time awards are granted and may impose different
performance conditions for awards granted in subsequent years, provided that, in the opinion of the committee, the
different performance conditions, in respect of awards to executive directors, are not materially less challenging
than those originally set.

Leaving employment
As a general rule, an award will lapse upon a participant leaving the employment of the group. However, if a
participant leaves employment by reason of death, injury, disability, redundancy, ill-health, retirement with the
agreement of their employer, sale of their employing company or business out of the group or for any other reason
as determined by the committee, then the committee can decide that either the award will vest on the normal
vesting date or the date of cessation. In determining the level of vesting the committee will consider the extent that
the performance conditions have been satisfied at the relevant time.

Following cessation of employment, the size of the award will then be reduced pro-rata based upon the period of
time that has elapsed from the date of grant to the date of cessation, relative to the original three year vesting
period, unless the committee decides that it would be inappropriate to apply such a reduction.

Corporate events
In the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or winding up of the company (not being an internal corporate
reorganisation) all awards will vest early to the extent that the performance conditions have, in the opinion of the
committee, been satisfied at that time or would have been satisfied had the performance period run its full course.
The committee will also consider the time that has elapsed since the grant of awards in relation to the original
vesting period and will retain discretion to scale back the awards on a pro-rata basis.

At the discretion of the committee, awards may also vest on the same basis as above, if a demerger, special
dividend or other similar event is proposed which, in the opinion of the committee, would affect the market price of
the shares to a material extent.

In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation, awards will be replaced by equivalent new awards over shares in
a new holding company, unless the committee decides that awards should vest on the same basis as would apply in
the case of a takeover.

Overall Plan limits
The Plan may operate over new issue shares, treasury shares or shares purchased in the market. In any ten
calendar year period the company may not issue (or grant rights to issue) more than:

(a) 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company under the Plan or any other employee share plan
adopted by the company; and

(b) 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company under the Plan or any other executive share plan
adopted by the company.

Shares held in treasury will count as new issue shares for the purpose of these limits, unless institutional investor
bodies decide otherwise.
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Participants’ rights
Awards will not confer any shareholder rights until the awards have vested and participants have received their
shares.

Participants will be entitled to receive a payment (in cash and/or shares) on or shortly following the vesting of their
awards, of an amount equivalent to the dividends that would have been paid on the vested shares between the time
when the awards were granted and the time when they vest.

Variation of capital
In the event of any variation of the company’s share capital or in the event of a demerger, payment of a special
dividend or similar event which materially affects the market price of the shares, the committee may make such
adjustments as it considers appropriate to the number of shares subject to an award and/or to the exercise price
payable (if any).

Rights attaching to shares
Any shares allotted when an award vests (or for an award structured as an option, when it is exercised) will rank
equally with all other shares then in issue (except for rights arising by reference to a record date prior to their
allotment).

Alterations
The committee may, at any time, amend the provisions of the Plan in any respect, provided that the prior approval of
shareholders is obtained for any amendment that is to the advantage of participants in respect of the rules
governing eligibility, limits on participation, the overall limits on the issue of shares (or the transfer of shares held in
treasury), the basis for determining a participant's entitlement to and the terms of, the shares to be acquired and
the adjustment of awards.

The requirement to obtain the prior approval of shareholders will not, however, apply to any minor alteration made to
benefit the administration of the Plan, to take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable
tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment for participants or for any company in the group.
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